CZECH UNIVERSITY OF LIFE SCIENCES PRAGUE (CZU) Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources

Molecular basis of herbicide resistance in newly identified cases in the Czech Republic

Doctoral dissertation thesis

Author: Madhab Kumar Sen

Supervisor: Prof. Ing. Josef Soukup, CSc.

Praha, 2022

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that the present dissertation work "Molecular basis of herbicide resistance in newly identified cases in the Czech Republic" is my own research work and I have properly acknowledged all the sources of materials used in this dissertation.

Place and date: In Prague; 20.07.2022

Signature: Madhab Kuman Sen

DEDICATIONS

In loving memory of my dear grandfather (Late Bijoy Kumar Sen)

&

maternal grandparents

(Late Jatindra Mohan Achcharya & Late Pratibha Achcharya).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I extend my humbleness to Prof. Petr Sklenička (the honourable Rector) and Prof. Iva Langrová (previous Dean) for giving me the opportunity to complete my dissertation and for availing all the requirements. I would like to express my deepest sense of gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Josef Soukup (the Dean), for accepting me as his doctoral student and giving me the opportunity to pursue this doctoral program, for his constant support, guidance as well as freedom throughout my research. Without his kindness and constant encouragement, it would have been impossible to complete this research work.

I am very grateful to my advisors from the Department of Agroecology and Crop Production (Dr. Kateřina Hamouzová & Dr. Pavlína Košnarová) for their constructive and valuable suggestions from the time I proposed until the completion of my research and especially for their critical review of my dissertation thesis. In addition to them, a very special thanks to Dr. Amit Roy (researcher at the Faculty of Forestry and Wood Technology) for his extensive support and advice.

I owe special thanks to my grandmother (Mrs. Mukti Rani Sen), father (Mr. Asish Kumar Sen), mother (Mrs. Lily Sen), brother (Mr. Subhasish Sen) and other family members for their love, affection and support to me during my time away from home. My sweet girlfriend (wouldbe wife), Ms. Mitali Paul deserves a special thanks for her unconditional love, support and always being with me in ups and downs in research and in life. I am also grateful to the secretary of our department, Mrs. Hana Raichlová, for her constant help regarding the official works related to the research. Without her, it would have been not possible to get each and every research material on time. My special thanks to my colleagues (Mr. Jakub Mikulka and Mr. Jaromír Šuk) and our other members of the department (Mr. Md Rafique Ahasan Chawdhery, Dr. Josef Holec, Dr. Pavel Hamouz, Dr. Václav Brant, Dr. Jana Poláková, Ing. Dita Hiřmanová and Dr. Theresa Ann Reinhardt Piskáčková) for their constant help and motivation. I am grateful to all my friends and colleagues (Dr. Smarak Bandyopadhyay, Mrs. Payal Mitra, Dr. Vishma Pratap Sur, Mr. Chandra Sekhar Paul, Mr. Ram Kumar, Mr. Rohit Bharati, Ms. Aayushi Gupta, Mr. Soham Bhattacharya, Mr. Arunabha Khara, Mr. Gothandapani Sellamuthu and Mr. Mallikarjuna Reddy Joga) for extending their supports during the course of work in all possible means and for the memorable times which we had together. Finally, I am indebted to the Almighty God for providing me with physical strength and right mindset throughout my dissertation work.

ABSTRACT

Herbicide-resistant arable weeds are continuing to increase rapidly worldwide and hence posing a major threat to the global food security. Currently, resistance has been reported against all major herbicidal modes of actions. The dissertation thesis starts with a brief introduction and a short literature review on the subject of the motivation for this research. Following the literature review, the objectives and the hypotheses of the Ph.D. doctoral thesis are discussed. The primary goal of this dissertation research was to explore the molecular mechanisms responsible for the herbicide resistance in the most important grass weeds in the Czech Republic. Thereafter, 4 published studies (1 bioinformatic study, 1 technical study and 2 research studies) has been discussed. The first study aimed to identify the best optimal codons for acetolactate synthase gene (an important herbicidetarget) in weedy species. In the second study, we discovered the resistance mechanism to pyroxsulam (an herbicidal molecule) in Bromus sterilis collected from the winter wheat field of the Czech Republic. The third study aimed to find a solution to the missing fact that there are no suitable reference gene in any brome species. This study solved the problem of normalisation of the real-time polymerase chain reaction for herbicide -resistance studies in *B. sterilis*. Finally, in the fourth study, we report the first case of Apera spica-venti, which had developed resistance to three different herbicide modes of action. The results of this doctoral thesis will assist increasing our understanding in using omics-technologies to solve the mechanisms underlying herbicide resistance development (in weeds occurring in the Czech republic) and propose its prospects for planning superior weed management strategies.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT

TA	FABLE OF CONTENTS 1-2						
1.	INTRODUCTION	3					
2.	LITERATURE REVIEW						
2.1	Herbicides and their modes of action	4- 7					
	2.1.1 Acetolactate synthase (ALS) inhibitors						
	2.1.2 Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) inhibitors						
	2.1.3 Photosystem II (PSII) inhibitors						
2.2	The status of herbicide resistance across the globe	7-9					
2.3	Molecular mechanisms of herbicide resistance	9-11					
	2.3.1 Target-site resistance mechanism						
	2.3.2 Non-target-site resistance mechanism						
2.4	Methods for detecting herbicide resistance	11-12					
2.5	Weeds studied in this Ph.D. work	12-14					
	2.5.1 Apera spica-venti (L.) P. Beauv.						
	2.5.2 Bromus sterilis (L.)						

4.	LIST OF PUBLISHED STUDIES	16-50

4.1 Study 1: Identification of the optimal codons for acetolactate synthase from weeds: an *in-silico* study.

4.2 Study 2: Enhanced metabolism and target gene overexpression confer resistance against acetolactate synthase-inhibiting herbicides in *Bromus sterilis*.

4.3 Study 3: Identification of the most suitable reference gene for gene expression studies with development and abiotic stress response in *Bromus sterilis*.

4.4 Study 4: *Apera spica-venti* in the Czech Republic develops resistance to three herbicide modes of action.

5.	SUMMARY DISCUSSION	51-54
6.	CONCLUSIONS	55-56
7.	LIST OF USED LITERATURES	57-61

1. INTRODUCTION

One of the major plant protection problems encountered by the farmers worldwide are the weeds. Weeds are considered as undesirable plants, which are known to compete with the crops for water, light and nutrients and result in decrease in the yields and productivity of the major crops. Moreover, weeds also interfere by providing hosts and vectors for plant pathogens, providing food or shelter for animal pests, causing irritation to some body parts or digestive tracts of people or animals etc. (Zimdahl, 2018; Navas, 1991; Harlan, 1982). According to the Weed Science Society of America, weeds are defined as "plants growing where it is not desired". Although, drop in the crop yield was the main reason for efforts to reduce weed populations in arable crops, but effects on the crop quality for the horticultural crops are equally important. Baker (1965) hypothesized that the "ideal weedy plant species" (both annuals and perennials) generally have certain traits. Some of these weedy characteristics are:

- \checkmark early germination and ability to germinate in various environment
- ✓ easy cross-pollination
- ✓ rapid growth from seedling to reproductive maturity
- ✓ prolonged period of seed production
- ✓ self-compatibility and
- \checkmark seed production even in adverse conditions.

Among the various commonly used weed management strategies, pesticides are widely used to manage weeds and increase the crop yields (Sharma *et al.*, 2019). Herbicides represent almost 60% (by volume) of the pesticides used worldwide (Sharma *et al.*, 2019). Compared to the developed countries like Australia, USA and some parts of Europe, in the developing countries, due to the small size of the farms, weeds are removed manually by ploughing, hoeing, hand-pulling and mulching. However, with the increase of urbanization and wage costs in agriculture, manual weeding is getting replaced by herbicide use (Gianessi, 2013). In the developed countries, herbicides are used widely to manage weeds. However, over-dependence on herbicides with analogous modes of action has resulted in the evolution of herbicide-resistant weeds. Hence, this doctoral work thesis will aim on herbicide and their mechanisms of action and will also provide examples of how omics-technologies can be used to decrypt the existing as well as novel mechanisms of herbicide target sites, which will be critical to decipher the ways by which the new herbicides may exert their action.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Herbicides and their modes of action

Although the occurrence of a single weed plant is not important, its incessant growth can reduce the yield of the crop it grows in. Thus, the expansion of the weed population can be remarkably rapid (Moss, 2002). A tremendous revolutionary measure in agriculture is documented in 1940, with the introduction of synthetic herbicides as a primary tool for weed management (Kraehmer et al., 2014). Herbicides have been used extensively and successfully to manage weeds and magnify the crop yield quality and quantity. 2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) and 4-Chloro-2-methylphenoxyacetic acid (MCPA) were the first herbicides to be commercialized. Phenoxyacetic acids, 2,4-D and various analogues, were widely used during World War II and were further developed after the war (Reade & Cobb, 2002). Subsequently, within the mid-1950s, these auxinic herbicides were followed by two new of action herbicides: PS II inhibiting herbicides (ureas) and the herbicides inhibiting the mitosis phase of the cell division. Most of the presently used herbicide modes of actions were introduced and developed between 1955 and 1975. Since the 1980s, only three new herbicide modes of actions were introduced: acetolactate synthase (ALS) inhibitors, glutamine synthase inhibitors and the 4-Hydroxyphenylpyruvate dioxygenase (HPPD) inhibitors (Reade & Cobb, 2002). Currently, there are only 26 known herbicide sites of action available to farmers worldwide (www.weedscience.org). Based on their modes of action, herbicides can be classified as: lipid biosynthesis inhibitors, amino acid biosynthesis inhibitors, inhibitors of plant growth regulators, photosynthesis inhibitors, nitrogen-metabolism inhibitors, pigment inhibitors, cell-membrane disruptors etc (Heap, 2014; Gaines et al., 2020). However, compared to the thousands of reactions occurring within the plants, this number is extremely low. Notwithstanding the massive success in significantly reduced losses, continuous use of similar herbicides has developed herbicide resistance in many weeds (Košnarová et al., 2021; Sen et al., 2021a; Gaines et al., 2020). The modes of action discussed in this thesis, are amino acid biosynthesis inhibitors, lipid biosynthesis inhibitors and photosynthesis inhibitors.

2.1.1 Acetolactate synthase (ALS) inhibitors: These types of herbicides are known as ALS inhibitors. ALS {also known as acetohydroxyacid synthase (AHAS)} catalyzes the first step in the synthesis of the branched-chain amino acids (valine, leucine, and isoleucine) (Powles & Yu, 2010; Chipman *et al.*, 1998). This group of herbicides inhibit the action of the ALS enzyme. ALS

inhibitors are a part of the largest group of herbicides, which comprise of chemical families such as imidazolinones, pyrimidinyl benzoates, sulfonylureas, triazolinones, triazolopyrimidines etc (Sherwani *et al.*, 2015; Reade & Cobb, 2002). Some examples of the active ingredients of this type of herbicides along with their chemical structures are shown in figure 1.



Figure 1: *Chemical structures of some acetolactate synthase (ALS)- inhibiting herbicides.* Picture source: PubChem (https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/).

2.1.2 Acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) inhibitors: Malonyl-CoA is an intermediate substrate that plays an important role in the regulation of fatty acid metabolism. The process of carboxylation of acetyl-CoA to malonyl-CoA is catalyzed by a biotin-dependent enzyme, known as acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase), which is a multi-subunit enzyme in most prokaryotes and the chloroplasts of most plants and algae. In the inactive state of this enzyme, another enzyme called, carnitine acyltransferase, catalyzes the transfer of the fatty acyl group from acyl CoA to carnitine, which further proceeds to the beta-oxidation of fatty acids in the mitochondria. ACCase is known to catalyze the first committed step of fatty acid synthesis and hence is very essential for the survival

of plants (Tong, 2005; Sasaki & Nagano, 2004). Because of its importance in plant metabolism, ACCase is one of the most frequently targeted enzymes of herbicides used against weedy grasses (Kaundun, 2014; Kukorelli, 2013). Three chemical families of graminicides (aryloxafenoxypropionates – fops, cyclohexandiones – dims, and phenylpyrazoline -dens) are known, which inhibit the ACCase. Some examples of the active ingredients of this type of herbicides along with their chemical structures are shown in figure 2.



Figure 2: *Chemical structures of some acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) inhibiting herbicides.* Picture source: PubChem (<u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/</u>).

2.1.3 PSII inhibitors: These mode of action herbicides is known to inhibit the photosynthetic pathway, specifically the Photosystem II (PSII). These classes of herbicides usually bind to the QB-binding site of the D1 protein complex present within the chloroplast thylakoid membrane. Following the binding of the herbicide molecule to the target protein, the electron transport system (ETS) from QA to QB gets disrupted. As a result of this, CO₂ fixation, ATP generation, and

nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide hydrogen phosphate (NADPH₂) production gets impeded. Ultimately, the biochemical pathways required for the plant's growth and development get hindered, resulting in the organism's death (Fedtke 2012; Fuerst, 1991; Draber, 1991). These herbicides comprise of chemical families such as phenyl-carbamates, pyridazinones, triazines, triazinones, uracils, ureas etc. Some examples of the active ingredients of this type of herbicides along with their chemical structures are shown in figure 3.



Figure 3: *Chemical structures of some photosynthesis inhibiting herbicides.* Picture source: PubChem (<u>https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/</u>).

2.2 The status of herbicide resistance across the globe

According to the International Herbicide-Resistant Weed Database (<u>http://www.weedscience.org</u>), till 10th June 2022, 512 unique cases of herbicide-resistance have been reported in 96 crops from 71 countries, which had evolved resistance to 165 distinct different herbicides. Resistance has been reported in 153 dicots and 113 monocots, against 21 of 31 known herbicide modes of action (MOA). Figure 4 represents the alarming increase in the number of herbicide resistant weeds,

globally, in the last 30 years. Evolution of herbicide-resistance has been reported in many weeds, such as, *Lolium rigidum* (resistant against 14 MOAs), *Echinochloa crus-galli var. crus-galli* (resistant against 11 MOAs), *Poa annua* (resistant against 10 MOAs), *Amaranthus palmeri* (resistant against 8 MOAs), *Avena fatua* (resistant against 8 MOAs), *Eleusine indica* (resistant against 8 MOAs), *Alopecurus myosuroides* (resistant against 7 MOAs), *Amaranthus retroflexus* (resistant against 5 MOAs) etc. (data source: <u>http://www.weedscience.org</u>). Even though resistance has been reported against various herbicide mode of actions, however, this doctoral dissertation thesis will deal with three groups of herbicides (ALS inhibitors, ACCase inhibitors and PS II inhibitors) and two weedy species (*Apera spica-venti* and *Bromus sterilis*). Figure 5 represents a schematic diagram showing the increasing number of herbicide resistant species against Acetolactate synthase-inhibitors, Acetyl CoA Carboxylase-inhibitors and Photosystem II inhibitors, globally.



Figure 4: Schematic diagram showing chronological increase in the number of herbicide resistant weeds, globally. Picture source: International Herbicide-Resistant Weed Database (http://www.weedscience.org/home.aspx).



Figure 5: Schematic diagram showing the increasing number of herbicide resistant species against Acetolactate synthase-inhibitors, Acetyl CoA Carboxylase-inhibitors and Photosystem II inhibitors, globally. Picture source: International Herbicide-Resistant Weed Database (http://www.weedscience.org/home.aspx).

2.3 Molecular mechanisms of herbicide resistance

The efficacy of herbicides mainly depends upon the quantity of the herbicide moving into a plant cell. Additionally, how long the herbicidal molecule's active form remains accessible to interact with its target site, is also a very crucial factor. A full knowledge of the mechanism of resistance to a herbicide involves understanding the mechanism of action of the herbicide. The mechanisms of herbicide resistance can be either target site-based and/or non-target site-based (Figure 6).



Herbicide resistance mechanisms

Figure 6: Brief outline showing the various mechanisms of resistance.

2.3.1 Target-site resistance mechanism

Target-site resistance (TSR) mechanisms mainly include target protein mutations, target gene amplification and overexpression. Mutations within the target protein result in a change to the protein that binds the herbicide molecule, resulting in a lack of inhibition of the biochemical pathway (Sen et al., 2021a; Rey-Caballero et al., 2017). Even though most of the mutations associated with the herbicide resistance occur around the herbicide binding site of the target enzyme, however some mutations are also known to occur elsewhere within the protein structure. In addition to the single or polynucleotide polymorphisms, target-site mutations might also involve whole-codon deletions. Whole-codon deletions reduce herbicide's affinity towards the target-site enzyme (Gaines et al., 2020). The first discovered nucleotide polymorphism related to the herbicide resistance was associated with D1 protein encoded by the psbA gene. Following this, several known mutation points were reported for herbicide target enzymes like ACCase, ALS etc. To date, codon deletions resulting in herbicide resistance has been reported only in the case of protoporphyrinogen oxidase (PPO; EC 1.3.3.4) in Amaranthus sp. (Patzoldt et al., 2006). In addition to single and multiple nucleotide mutations, TSR also involves increased expression of the target-site gene. The overexpression of the target-site gene can be either due to changes in the regulatory regions and/or increased genomic copy numbers of the particular target gene. Gene duplication will result in an extra copy of the coding segment of DNA, which cause increased gene expression at the mRNA levels. Moreover, mutations might also accumulate in these new copies, resulting in the gain in function or loss of function over time. Evidence for elevated expression of the target gene has been reported in several species like Bromus sterilis L. (Sen et al., 2021a), Lolium rigidum (Baerson et al., 2002), Conyza canadensis (Gaines et al., 2020), Conyza bonariensis (Gaines et al., 2020), Hordeum leporinum (Yu et al., 2007) etc.

2.3.2 Non-target-site resistance mechanism

The most common non-target site resistance mechanisms (NTSR) mechanisms are enhanced metabolism, reduced absorption, increased detoxification and reduced translocation and vacuolar sequestration (Sen *et al.*, 2021a). NTSR does not allow sufficient herbicide to reach the target site. NTSR also frequently leads to cross-resistance to herbicides of different modes of action, thereby making resistance management severely complicated (Yuan *et al.*, 2007). Cross-resistance patterns are highly variable and unpredictable. In general, herbicide detoxification can be separated into

three different phases: Phase I involves addition of a functional group to the herbicide. This is mediated by cytochrome P450 monooxygenases. Phase II involves addition of water-soluble metabolites. This is mediated by GSH S-transferases (GSTs) and glucosyltransferases (GTs)] and finally the phase III involving compartmentalization of the herbicide metabolites). Phase III is mediated by ABC-transporters and other transporters (Ghanizadeh & Harrington, 2017; Gaines *et al.*, 2020). Rapid detoxification of the herbicide molecules has been reported in many weeds like *Lolium rigidum* (Christopher *et al.*, 1991) and *Alopecurus myosuroides* Huds (Hall *et al.*, 1995).

2.4 Methods for detecting herbicide resistance

Unwavering tests for resistance are indispensable pre-requisites for the sensible operation of effective integrated weed control strategies. Ideally, the diagnostic tests must be quick, precise, cheap and readily available. Alongside these, the tests must give a consistent hint of the likely impact of resistance on herbicide activity in the field. Some of the many methods for detecting herbicide resistance are shown in the figure 7. Weed resistance diagnostics based on greenhouse bioassays include dose-response and cross-resistance studies. These usually allow us to get information on whole plant responses to the herbicides. However, the greenhouse bioassays in pots are time and space consuming, besides being quite expensive. To overcome these shortcomings, occasionally weed scientists prefer petri dish bioassays (using filter paper or agar). However, the accuracy and ability to distinguish between resistance mechanisms still remains a question for these bioassays.

Besides greenhouse bioassays biochemical, molecular and analytical assays had also proven their abilities in detecting herbicide resistance. Biochemical assays include herbicide-target enzyme assays such as ALS assay, ACCase assays etc. Even though we can expect a good correlation between the relative resistance at the enzyme and whole plant level, however, these assays afford to provide information mostly about TSR. But NTSR and multiple resistance to herbicides mostly remains undetected. Nevertheless, recently various cytochrome and GST-based had already grabbed the eyes of the weed scientists. Molecular techniques rely mostly on PCRbased pyrosequencing and qRT-PCR experiments to detect herbicide resistance mechanisms. Additionally, with the reduction of prices of next-generation sequencing technologies, interests in transcriptomics or RNA-seq have increased. Besides cost-reduction, with better availability of the reference genomes and transcriptomes of model crops, the number of studies based on novel RNA- seq approach has been intensified. RNA-seq approach offers better insights to develop new knowledge about NTSR, as compared to the other diagnostic techniques. Analytical studies based on radioactive ¹⁴C-radiolabelled compounds, HPLC and GC-MS allows analyzing the metabolic degradation of the herbicides and hence at present, these techniques are therefore the only choice to conduct metabolite-resistance studies. More details of the methods for detecting herbicide resistance can be found in Beffa *et al.*, 2012.



Figure 7: Brief outline showing the various methods for detecting herbicide resistance.

2.5 Weeds studied in this Ph.D. work

2.5.1 Apera spica-venti (L.) P. Beauv.

Loose silky bent grass {*Apera spica-venti* (L.) P. Beauv.} (figure 8) is a winter annual grass, found in the Northern, Central and East European countries, mainly, in Germany, Poland and the Czech Republic (Auškalniené *et al.*, 2020; Soukup *et al.*, 2006). Currently, the loose silky bent grass weed is the most prevalent grass weed in the Czech Republic. An year old loose silky bent grass is expected to form tufts of around 30-120 cm high. Their stems are usually erect, light green with a yellowish tinge. This weed mainly blooms during June to autumn and are known to be spread predominantly by wind and water. Their propagation is by seeds (only), which are usually produced in a huge number. The seeds of this species emerge mainly in autumn, particularly under warm and rainy weather conditions. Hence, it can be predicted that the weediness of *A. spica-venti* varies usually from one year to the next. Silky bent grass often occurs in winter cereals, especially in winter wheat and winter barley. However, it might also cause damage to the yield and productivity of winter rape, forage crops, and early sown spring cereals (Soukup *et al.*, 2006).

Several herbicides, including ureas, dinitroanilines, thiocarbamates, sulfonylureas and triazolopyrimidines are mainly used to control these weedy species. Although, these herbicides were used successfully against this species, however, various cases of growing resistance in these species were reported (Košnarová *et al.*, 2021; Hamouzová *et al.*, 2011; Krysiak *et al.*, 2011).



Figure 8: Apera spica-venti. Picture source: https://www.flickr.com.

2.5.2 Bromus sterilis (L.)

Bromus sterilis L. (barren brome), is an annual or biennial grass weed, which is known to be found in northern Africa, western and middle Asia and northern, central and eastern Europe (figure 9). In the Czech Republic, these problematic weeds are known to occur in the lowland and hilly areas. *B. sterilis* usually blooms from May to July. This grass usually ranges from 20 to 90cm in height and its leaf blades are approximately 6–25 cm long containing short, soft hair. The leaves are usually rough and hairy with green to purplish in colour. Their spikelet is approximately 6 cm long (maximum). Although, these weeds mostly infest field margins, but it can also invade within the fields, causing severe infestations, resulting into high yield losses in cereal crops (Valičková *et al.*, 2017; Jursík *et al.*, 2016; Moray *et al.*, 2003; Allen & Meyer, 2002). These weeds are known to cause up to 30–60% yield losses in the productivity of winter wheat.

In the Europe, ALS-inhibiting herbicides such as pyroxsulam, propoxycarbazone, mesosulfuron, and sulfosulfuron are mainly used, to control this species. The evolution of resistance against these herbicides in these species has jeopardized their management in Europe. Resistance against glyphosate has also been reported in UK, in the recent years. Additionally, populations of *B. sterilis* resistant to ACCase- and ALS-inhibiting herbicides have also been reported from Germany and France (Sen *et al.*, 2021a; Davies *et al.*, 2020).



Figure 9: Bromus sterilis. Picture source: http://www.jvsystem.net.

3. OBJECTIVES & HYPOTHESES

3.1 DISSERTATION OBJECTIVES

- The main objective of this thesis is to investigate the molecular mechanisms which are responsible for the herbicide resistance in the most important grass weeds in the Czech Republic.
- To use the molecular techniques to identify any inhibitor binding site that binds compounds with physicochemical properties compatible with good uptake and translocation.
- To come-up with new molecular tools to detect the reasons behind the herbicide resistance and also to come-up with more efficient and cost-effective weed management strategies.

3.2 DISSERTATION HYPOTHESES

- Genetic mutations leading to structural change is responsible for the resistance to particular herbicide with a particular mode of action. Many of the mutations had been detected, but many more are yet to be detected.
- Higher expression of herbicide target genes leads to increased concentration of target enzyme and inadequate effect of herbicides.
- The metabolic resistance to a particular herbicide is due to the level of expression of specific genes encoding a particular protein, associated with that herbicide.

4. LIST OF STUDIES

4.1 Study 1

- Title: Identification of the optimal codons for acetolactate synthase from weeds: an insilico study.
- Brief description: Although various studies of codon usage bias have been reported in a broad spectrum of organisms, no studies to date have examined codon usage bias for herbicide target genes. In this study, we analysed codon usage patterns for the *acetolactate synthase (ALS)* gene in eight monocot weeds and one model monocot. Additionally, the optimal codons, along with over- and under-represented codons, were identified. Gene design using optimal codons rather than overall abundant codons produce improved protein expression results.

4.2 Study 2

- Title: Enhanced metabolism and target gene overexpression confer resistance against acetolactate synthase-inhibiting herbicides in *Bromus sterilis*.
- Brief description: Frequent usage of pyroxsulam, an ALS inhibiting herbicide has resulted in development of herbicide-resistance in *Bromus sterilis*. The present study is the first detailed study on elucidating the mechanism of ALS inhibiting herbicide resistance in *Bromus sterilis* biotypes from the Czech Republic.

4.3 Study 3

- **Title:** Identification of the most suitable reference gene for gene expression studies with development and abiotic stress response in *Bromus sterilis*.
- Brief description: qRT-PCR and the next-generation sequencing technologies can illuminate more and decrease the knowledge gap in the field of the herbicide resistance. Although qRT-PCR can calculate accurate fold changes, however, its accuracy depends on the expression of reference genes. To our knowledge, there are no reports on the suitable reference gene in any brome species so far. Hence, the present study is the first detailed study on the identification of the most suitable reference gene/s in *Bromus sterilis*.

4.4 Study 4

- Title: Apera spica-venti in the Czech Republic develops resistance to three herbicide modes of action.
- Brief description: Apera spica-venti is widespread in many Central and East European countries, like Germany, Poland and the Czech Republic. It can be controlled with numerous herbicides like ALS inhibitors, ACCase inhibitors and PSII inhibitors. However, with the overuse of these herbicide modes of action, multiple resistances to ALS and ACCase inhibitors were detected. The present study is the first study reporting resistance to three different herbicide modes of action.

Identification of the optimal codons for acetolactate synthase from weeds: an *in-silico* study

Madhab Kumar Sen¹, Kateřina Hamouzová¹*, Sunil Kanti Mondal², Josef Soukup¹

¹Department of Agroecology and Crop Production, Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Prague, Czech Republic ²Department of Biotechnology, The University of Burdwan, Burdwan, West Bengal, India *Corresponding author: hamouzova@af.czu.cz

Citation: Sen M.K., Hamouzová K., Mondal S.K., Soukup J. (2021): Identification of the optimal codons for acetolactate synthase from weeds: an *in-silico* study. Plant Soil Environ., 67: 331–336.

Abstract: Although various studies of codon usage bias have been reported in a broad spectrum of organisms, no studies to date have examined codon usage bias for herbicide target genes. In this study, we analysed codon usage patterns for the acetolactate synthase (ALS) gene in eight monocot weeds and one model monocot. The base composition at the third codon position follows C3 > G3 > T3 > A3. The values of the effective number of codons (ENC or Nc) indicate low bias, and ENC or Nc *vs.* GC3 plot suggests that this low bias is due to mutational pressure. Low codon adaptation index and codon bias index values further supported the phenomenon of low bias. Additionally, the optimal codons, along with over- and under-represented codons, were identified. Gene design using optimal codons rather than overall abundant codons produce improved protein expression results. Our results can be used for further studies, including eliciting the mechanisms of herbicide resistance (occurring due to elevation of gene expression levels) and the development of new compounds, their efficiency and risk assessment for herbicide resistance evolution.

Keywords: herbicide-resistant weeds; heterologous gene expression; primer designing; recombinant ALS protein

Weeds compete with the major crop, thus reducing their yield and productivity. Economically, they can be regarded as a more damaging agent than other crop pests (in several situations). Globally, herbicide resistance has been documented in a wide range of weed species. Acetolactate synthase (ALS) catalyses the first step in the synthesis of the branched-chain amino acids (Duggleby et al. 2008, Hamouzová et al. 2014) and is the target for a large number of herbicides. Continuous use of the same herbicide with the same mode of action has allowed for the selection of weed populations resistant to the overused herbicide or mechanism of herbicide action. The widespread evolution of multiple-herbicide resistance in weedy species makes their control more difficult. The most common mechanisms of evolving resistance to herbicides by plants include metabolic changes, mutations in the DNA of the target gene and overexpression of the target protein (Jugulam and Shyam 2019, Murphy and Tranel 2019). Unfortunately, for nearly 20 years, no new mode of action has been introduced into the market. Furthermore, with the release of glyphosateresistant crops, the efforts for herbicide discovery reduced significantly (Powles and Yu 2010).

Due to their favourable effects on the efficiency and accuracy of the translation, certain codons are preferred over the others, leading to differential codon usage patterns (codon-usage bias) (Je et al. 2019). Optimal codons contribute to the accuracy as well as the speed of the translation elongation (Wright 1990). Thus, it is very useful to know the rules which govern the synonymous codon selection of the target gene. This knowledge can be extremely useful to design a heterologous gene, having the most efficient expressional efficiency. Apart from playing important roles in various physiological processes,

Supported by the National Agency for Agricultural Research, Project No. QK1820081.

codon bias and codon optimisation, finds huge applications in industrial biotechnology, whose major goal is to produce recombinant proteins. Even though heterologous gene expression studies are among the most well-appreciated studies related to specific protein interactions, efficiency in the expression of heterologous genes remains the most challenging part. Codon usage patterns in non-model plants, especially weeds, are not well understood, mainly due to limitations in data availability. The development of new compounds with herbicidal properties along with an assessment of their efficiencies and risk of resistance may require designing synthetic genes based on their codon usage patterns. Synthetic genes find important applications in heterologous gene expression experiments. Heterologous gene expression studies can be very useful in basic biological research areas, including protein interactions studies and the development of new herbicidal compounds (Quax et al. 2015, Zhou et al. 2016).

In this study, we analysed codon usage patterns for ALS in eight monocot weeds (Alopecurus myosuroides Huds., Apera spica-venti L., Beckmannia syzigachne L., Bromus tectorum L., Echinochloa crus-galli (L.) P. Beauv., Echinochloa oryzicola (Vasinger) Ohwi, Poa annua L. and Lolium rigidum Gaud.) and one model monocot (Zea mays L.). Relative synonymous codon usage (RSCU), codon adaptation index (CAI), codon bias index (CBI), the effective number of codons (ENC or Nc), positional GC contents and CG dinucleotide suppression values, were analysed for ALS-coding sequences. Optimal codons, along with over- and under-represented codons, were identified. Our results would help in additional investigations with acetolactate synthase gene, including eliciting the mechanisms of herbicide resistance (occurring due to elevation of gene expression levels) and development of new herbicidal compounds with synthetic genes based on their codon usage pattern.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Retrieval of sequences. Full-length *ALS* coding sequences were retrieved from the National Center for Biotechnology Information website (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/). The list of organisms and their accession numbers are in Table 1.

Base composition parameters. Total GC content, the GC content at the different positions of a codon (GC1, GC2 and GC3) were calculated using MEGAX (Kumar et al. 2018). Because of the degenerate property of the codons, the 3rd position of a codon (also called as wobble position) has less discriminatory for an amino acid than the other two bases (Elhaik and Tatarinova 2012). Moreover, CG dinucleotides are the potential target sites for methylation (Elhaik et al. 2014). The XCG/XCC ratio based on RSCU values was used to calculate CG dinucleotide suppression values (Mazumdar et al. 2017).

Analysis of codon usage for acetolactate synthase in weeds. MEGAX and CodonW (http://codonw. sourceforge.net), with in-house PERL script and standard genetic codon table, were used for computing the RSCU values. RSCU value of 1 indicates no codon usage bias, while values above and below 1 indicate codons are utilised more and less frequently (respectively) than expected (Mondal et al. 2016). Based on the RSCU values, optimal codons and their frequencies (F_{op}) were calculated. CAI and CBI values were determined using CodonW. CAI values range from 0 (random codon usage) to 1 (extreme codon bias) (Mondal et al. 2016). CBI values measure the extent to which a gene uses the set of its optimal codons. CBI values range between 0 (random codon usage) and 1 (extreme codon bias) (Bennetzen and Hall 1982).

GC3 vs. the effective number of codons (ENC or Nc) plot. Mutational pressure and natural selection are the two well-known core factors responsible for codon biasness. Plot between GC3 and expected the effective number of codons can be a good measure to determine that among the mentioned core factors, which factor is the driving force (Sharp et al. 1993). ENc values

Table 1. List of organisms used for analysis along with their GenBank accession numbers

Organism	Accession number (CDS)
Zea mays ALS1	NCVQ01000006.1
Z. mays ALS2	NM_001148702.2
Apera spica-venti	JN646110.1
Bromus tectorum	MK492423.1
Alopecurus myosuroides	AJ437300.2
Beckmannia syzigachne	MG891930.1
Lolium rigidum	MK492446.1
Echinochloa crus-galli ALS1	KY071206.1
E. crus-galli ALS2	KY071207.1
E. crus-galli ALS3	KY071208.1
E. oryzicola ALS1	KY071209.1
E. oryzicola ALS2	KY071210.1
Poa annua ALSa	KT346395.1
P. annua ALSb	KT346396.1

Organism -		T-3	C-3	A-3	G-3	GC1	GC2	GC3	GC	Nc	Codon adaptation	Codon Bias
		(%)								index	index	
Apera spica-venti		23.2	35.4	10.8	30.7	58.3	63.2	45.7	66	55.9	0.3	0.1
Bromus tectorum		20.5	37.2	11.3	31	59.1	63.6	45.4	68.2	54.6	0.3	0.1
Alopecurus myosuroides		23.6	34.3	12.8	29.3	57.4	62.7	45.9	63.7	57.3	0.2	0.1
Beckmannia syzigachne		23.3	35.8	11.3	29.7	57.9	62.3	45.8	65.5	56.3	0.3	0.1
Lolium rigidum		18.7	42	8.6	30.8	60.6	63	46	72.8	51.4	0.3	0.1
	ALS1	18.8	40.6	9.3	31.3	60.6	63.3	46.7	71.9	52.1	0.3	0.1
Echinochloa crus-galli	ALS2	18.5	40.4	9.3	31.8	60.5	63.2	46.1	72.2	51.9	0.3	0.1
	ALS3	19.3	39.8	8.7	32.2	60.7	63.6	46.5	72	52	0.3	0.2
Zoamans	ALS1	21.1	37.1	10	31.8	59.3	63.5	45.4	68.9	54.3	0.2	0.1
Zeu mays	ALS2	22.8	36.5	11.6	29.1	57.9	62.8	45.4	65.6	56.2	0.2	0.1
Felimochlog omnicolg	ALS1	18.8	40.4	9.3	31.4	60.4	63.1	46.2	71.9	52.2	0.3	0.1
Echinochioa oryzicola	ALS2	18.5	40.4	9.2	32	60.6	63.2	46.3	72.4	51.7	0.3	0.1
Dog gunug	ALSa	22.4	36.9	8.9	31.8	59	62.8	45.5	68.7	54.3	0.3	0.1
1 ⁻ 0 <i>a annua</i>	ALSb	19.7	40.1	9.0	31.2	60.0	62.6	46.1	71.3	52.5	0.3	0.1

Nc - number of codons

were calculated from GC3s under the null hypothesis (i.e., no selection) according to the given equation by Wright (1990). The values of ENc (or Nc) might vary from extreme (20) to least bias (61) (Mondal et al. 2016).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Base compositional parameters and correlation analysis. For these species, the base composition at the third codon position follows C3 > G3 > T3 > A3(Table 2). Analysis of XCG/XCC ratio showed values of 0.4 (A. spica-venti L., Z. mays L. ALS2 and P. annua L. ALSb), 0.5 (B. tectorum L., A. myosuroides Huds., B. syzigachne L., E. crus-galli (L.) P. Beauv., E. oryzicola (Vasinger) Ohwi, P. annua L. ALSa and Z. mays L. ALS1) and 0.6 (L. rigidum Gaud.). Except for A. spica-venti, Z. mays L. ALS2 and P. annua L. ALSb; our results indicate moderate CG dinucleotide suppression. The values of Nc varied from 51.4 to 57.3. This indicates weak bias. Moreover, the Enc (or Nc) vs. GC3 plot suggests that the low bias might be due to mutational pressure and not a natural selection (Figure 1). The CAI values ranged from 0.2-0.3 (i.e., random codon usage). Low CBI values further supported the fact of random codon usage (Table 2).

Analysis of relative synonymous codon usage and determination of optimal codons. To analyse the codon usage patterns in the selected weed species, RSCU values were calculated. Based on the cluster analysis, primarily two clusters were formed: one with maize ALS and the other with the rest species. Within the cluster containing weedy species ALS, two further sub-clusters were formed. ALS from *B. tectorum* L. and *L. rigidum* Gaud. showed similar patterns with the ALS from the *Echinochloa* sp. (Figure 2). In all the cases, the number of codons having an RSCU value less than 1 is found to be greater than the codons having an RSCU value higher than optimum. Nine codons (GAA, GGA, AAA, UUA, CUA, CAA, AGA, CGA and GUA) were under-represented in all cases, whereas CAG, CGC and UCC were overrepresented in all cases. Interestingly, all the nine



Figure 1. GC3 vs. number of codons (ENC or Nc) plot. The acetolactate synthase (ALS) genes which are positioned on or close to the curve line are considered to be under mutational pressure



Figure 2. Heat map using raw Z-score of RSCU (relative synonymous codon usage) of 59 codons. $RSCU \le 0.6$ indicates underrepresented codons; $RSCU \ge 1.6$ indicates most preferred codons. R statistical software has been used for this representation



Table 3. Optimal codons and their frequencie	es
--	----

Organism	А	F _{op}	С	F _{op}	D	F _{op}	Е	F _{op}	F	F _{op}	G	F _{op}
Apera spica-venti	GCC	0.41	TGC	0.80	GAC	0.53	GAG	0.91	TTT	0.57	GGC	0.28
Bromus tectorum	GCC	0.39	TGC	0.67	GAC	0.55	GAG	0.82	TTT	0.52	GGC	0.35
Alopecurus myosuroides	GCC	0.43	TGC	0.67	GAT	0.52	GAG	0.82	TTT	0.52	GGC	0.33
Beckmannia syzigachne	GCC	0.40	TGC	0.83	GAC/ GAT	0.50	GAG	0.79	TTT	0.57	GGC	0.30
Lolium rigidum	GCC	0.42	TGC	0.80	GAC	0.60	GAG	0.88	TTC	0.59	GGC	0.43
Echinochloa crus-galli ALS1	GCC	0.49	TGC	0.80	GAT	0.55	GAG	0.85	TTC	0.70	GGC	0.37
E. crus-galli ALS2	GCC	0.46	TGC	0.83	GAT	0.52	GAG	0.85	TTC	0.70	GGC	0.42
E. crus-galli ALS3	GCC	0.42	TGC	0.80	GAT	0.53	GAG	0.84	TTC	0.61	GGC	0.41
Zea mays ALS1	GCC	0.34	TGC	0.80	GAT	0.55	GAG	0.85	TTC	0.55	GGC	0.39
Z. mays ALS2	GCC	0.39	TGC/ TGT	0.50	GAC	0.52	GAG	0.75	TTC	0.54	GGC	0.41
Echinochloa oryzicola AISI	GCC	0.48	TGC	0.80	GAT	0.53	GAG	0.85	ТТС	0.65	GGC	0.37
F orvzicola AI S2	GCC	0.46	TGC	0.83	GAT	0.52	GAG	0.82	TTC	0.70	GGC	0.42
E. 01921001011E02	000	0.10	100	0.05	GILI	0.02	GNG	0.02	110	0.70	GGC/	0.12
Poa annua ALSa	GCC	0.46	TGC	0.80	GAC	0.58	GAG	0.88	TTC	0.52	GGG/	0.30
P. annua ALSb	GCC	0.47	TGC	0.75	GAC	0.60	GAG	0.89	TTC	0.52	GGC	0.38
Organism	Н	\mathbf{F}_{op}	Ι	F_{op}	К	\mathbf{F}_{op}	L	\mathbf{F}_{op}	Ν	F _{op}	Р	\mathbf{F}_{op}
Apera spica-venti	CAC	0.69	ATC	0.52	AAG	0.80	CTG	0.40	AAC/AAT	0.50	CCA	0.33
Bromus tectorum	CAC	0.77	ATC	0.54	AAG	0.80	CTG	0.35	AAC	0.82	CCC	0.38
Alopecurus myosuroides	CAC	0.69	ATC/ ATT	0.44	AAG	0.79	CTG	0.37	AAC	0.56	CCA	0.35
Beckmannia syzigachne	CAC	0.79	ATC	0.50	AAG	0.79	CTG	0.39	AAC	0.56	CCA	0.39
Lolium rigidum	CAC	0.64	ATC	0.61	AAG	0.71	CTC	0.44	AAC	0.76	CCC	0.31
Echinochloa crus-galli ALS1	CAC	0.83	ATC	0.63	AAG	0.83	CTC/CTG	0.31	AAC	0.82	CCC	0.35
E. crus-galli ALS2	CAC	0.85	ATC	0.59	AAG	0.83	CTC/CTG	0.31	AAC	0.76	CCC	0.33
E. crus-galli ALS3	CAC	0.75	ATC	0.60	AAG	0.83	CTC	0.33	AAC	0.82	CCC	0.34
Zea mays ALS1	CAC	0.77	ATC	0.65	AAG	0.88	CTC	0.30	AAC	0.79	CCC	0.39
Z. mays ALS2	CAC	0.69	ATC	0.61	AAG	0.88	CTC	0.25	AAC	0.78	CCC	0.38
Echinochloa oryzicola ALS1	CAC	0.77	ATC	0.63	AAG	0.83	CTC/CTG	0.31	AAC	0.82	CCC	0.36
E. oryzicola ALS2	CAC	0.85	ATC	0.59	AAG	0.83	CTC/CTG	0.31	AAC	0.76	CCC	0.33
Poa annua ALSa	CAC	0.73	ATC	0.56	AAG	0.80	CTG	0.38	AAC	0.53	CCA	0.35
P. annua ALSb	CAC	0.80	ATC	0.58	AAG	0.79	CTG	0.40	AAC	0.65	CCC	0.35
Organism	Q	F_{op}	R	F_{op}	S	F_{op}	Т	\mathbf{F}_{op}	V	F_{op}	Y	\mathbf{F}_{op}
Apera spica-venti	CAG	0.90	CGC	0.54	TCC	0.44	ACC	0.33	GTC	0.42	TAC	0.72
Bromus tectorum	CAG	0.79	CGC	0.64	TCC	0.35	ACC	0.42	GTC	0.36	TAC	0.59
Alopecurus myosuroides	CAG	0.82	CGC	0.50	TCC	0.33	ACC/ACT	0.27	GTC	0.44	TAC	0.72
Beckmannia syzigachne	CAG	0.92	CGC	0.56	TCC	0.37	ACC	0.31	GTC	0.46	TAC	0.78
Lolium rigidum	CAG	0.83	CGC	0.62	TCC	0.41	ACC	0.39	GTC	0.45	TAC	0.82
Echinochloa crus-galli ALS1	CAG	0.88	CGC	0.55	TCC	0.39	ACC	0.43	GTC/GTG	0.39	TAC	0.65
E. crus-galli ALS2	CAG	0.92	CGC	0.55	TCC	0.35	ACC	0.47	GTG	0.42	TAC	0.65
E. crus-galli ALS3	CAG	0.92	CGC	0.56	TCC	0.40	ACC	0.44	GTG	0.42	TAC	0.65
Zea mays ALS1	CAG	0.92	CGC	0.50	TCC	0.33	ACC	0.35	GTC/GTG	0.42	TAC	0.59
Z. mays ALS2	CAG	0.88	CGC	0.46	TCC	0.32	ACC	0.31	GTC/GTG	0.40	TAT	0.56
Echinochloa oryzicola ALS1	CAG	0.88	CGC	0.55	TCC	0.39	ACC	0.46	GTC/GTG	0.39	TAC	0.65
E. oryzicola ALS2	CAG	0.92	CGC	0.55	TCC	0.35	ACC	0.46	GTG	0.42	TAC	0.65
Poa annua ALSa	CAG	0.91	CGC	0.47	TCC	0.42	ACC	0.35	GTC	0.44	TAC	0.69
P. annua ALSb	CAG	0.91	CGC	0.50	TCC	0.43	ACC	0.36	GTC	0.46	TAC	0.69

under-represented are A-ending codons, whereas the three over-represented codons are G/C-ending. Furthermore, based on the RSCU values, the F_{op} values were calculated (Table 3). Overall, the set of optimal codons for *ALS* gene in weeds is as follow: Ala (GCC), Cys (TGC/TGT), Asp (GAC/GAT), Glu (GAG), Phe (TTT/TTC), Gly (GGC/GGT/GGG), His (CAC), Ile (ATC/ATT), Lys (AAG), Leu (CTG/ CTC), Asn (AAC/AAT), Pro (CCA/CCC), Gln (CAG), Arg (CGC), Ser (TCC), Thr (ACC/ACT), Val (GTC/ GTG), Tyr (TAC/TAT).

Despite of its ubiquitous nature, the mechanism of codon bias is not fully understood. Studies showed that synonymous codon usage may alter the expression of the gene of interest, and this effect can reach up to 1 000-fold or even more (Stoletzki and Eyre-Walker 2007, Quax et al. 2015). Although several field-based studies on weeds and their herbicideresistant properties were conducted but work related to their molecular properties are still at their infancies. Heterologous gene expression studies can be very useful to study specific protein interactions. Studies involving codon optimisation will allow researchers to develop synthetic heterologous genes involved in herbicide resistance with the most efficient expressional efficiencies. These heterologous expression studies with optimised codons will have the potential to prove their efforts in the development of new herbicidal compounds. Hence, the present study was conducted to gain insight into the codon usage pattern of the acetolactate synthase gene in weedy species. The results obtained from the current study will enhance our understanding of the major factors and the pattern of codon usage in the ALS gene of weeds. Additionally, these results will help further investigations with the ALS gene and the development of new herbicidal compounds, which may require synthetic gene design based on codon usage patterns.

Acknowledgment. The authors would also like to acknowledge Dr. Pavel Hamouz, Department of Agroecology and Crop Production, Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, for his help regarding the images. The authors would also like to thank Dr. Amit Roy, Excellent Team for Mitigation, Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague and Dr. Maor Matzrafi, Department of Plant Pathology and Weed Research, Agricultural Research Organisation-Volcani Center, Israel for their helpful suggestions regarding the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Bennetzen J.L., Hall B.D. (1982): Codon selection in yeast. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 257: 3026–3031.
- Duggleby R.G., McCourt J.A., Guddat L.W. (2008): Structure and mechanism of inhibition of plant acetohydroxyacid synthase. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry, 46: 309–324.
- Elhaik E., Pellegrini M., Tatarinova T.V. (2014): Gene expression and nucleotide composition are associated with genic methylation level in *Oryza sativa*. BMC Bioinformatics, 15: 23.
- Elhaik E., Tatarinova T. (2012): GC3 biology in eukaryotes and prokaryotes. In: Tatarinova T. (ed.): DNA Methylation — From Genomics To Technology. London, IntechOpen. ISBN 978-953-51-0320-2.
- Hamouzová K., Košnarová P., Salava J., Soukup J., Hamouz P. (2014): Mechanisms of resistance to acetolactate synthase-inhibiting herbicides in populations of *Apera spica-venti* from the Czech Republic. Pest Management Science, 70: 541–548.
- Je M.Y., Kim H.Y., Son H.S. (2019): Analysis of the codon usage pattern of the RdRP gene of mycovirus infecting *Aspergillus* spp. Virology Journal, 16: 10.
- Jugulam M., Shyam C. (2019): Non-target-site resistance to herbicides: recent developments. Plants, 8: 417.
- Kumar S., Stecher G., Li M., Knyaz C., Tamura K. (2018): MEGA X: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis across computing platforms. Molecular Biology and Evolution, 35: 1547–1549.
- Mazumdar P., Othman R.Y.B., Mebus K., Ramakrishnan N., Harikrishna J.A. (2017): Codon usage and codon pair patterns in non-grass monocot genomes. Annals of Botany, 120: 893–909.
- Mondal S.K., Kundu S., Das R., Roy S. (2016): Analysis of phylogeny and codon usage bias and relationship of GC content, amino acid composition with expression of the structural nif genes. Journal of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics, 34: 1649–1666.
- Murphy B.P., Tranel P.J. (2019): Target-site mutations conferring herbicide resistance. Plants (Basel), 8: 382.
- Powles S.B., Yu Q. (2010): Evolution in action: plants resistant to herbicides. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 61: 317–347.
- Quax T.E.F., Claassens N.J., Söll D., van der Oost J. (2015): Codon bias as a means to fine-tune gene expression. Molecular Cell, 59: 149–161.
- Sharp P.M., Stenico M., Peden J.F., Lloyd A.T. (1993): Codon usage: mutational bias, translational selection, or both? Biochemistry Society Transaktions, 21: 835–841.
- Stoletzki N., Eyre-Walker A. (2007): Synonymous codon usage in *Escherichia coli*: selection for translational accuracy. Molecular Biology and Evolution, 24: 374–381.
- Wright F. (1990): The "effective number of codons" used in a gene. Gene, 87: 23–29.
- Zhou Z., Dang Y., Zhou M., Li L., Yu C.H., Fu J., Chen S., Liu Y. (2016): Codon usage is an important determinant of gene expression levels largely through its effects on transcription. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 113: E6117–25.

Received: October 27, 2020 Accepted: February 15, 2021 Published online: May 10, 2021 Received: 15 October 2020

Revised: 14 December 2020

(wileyonlinelibrary.com) DOI 10.1002/ps.6241

Enhanced metabolism and target gene overexpression confer resistance against acetolactate synthase-inhibiting herbicides in *Bromus sterilis*

Madhab Kumar Sen,^a [©] Katerina Hamouzová,^a Jakub Mikulka,^a Rohit Bharati,^b Pavlina Košnarová,^a Pavel Hamouz,^a Amit Roy^{c†} [©] and Josef Soukup^{a†*} [©]

Abstract

BACKGROUND: Intensive application of acetolactate synthase (ALS)-inhibiting herbicides has resulted in herbicide-resistance in many weeds, including *Bromus sterilis*. The present study was conducted to identify the mechanisms conferring resistance to ALS-inhibiting herbicides in a *Bromus sterilis* biotype.

RESULTS: Dose–response studies revealed the resistant biotype to be 288 times less sensitive to pyroxsulam than the susceptible biotype. Furthermore, experiment with a single-dose, proved this biotype was also cross-resistant to propoxycarbazone, iodosulfuron plus mesosulfuron and sulfosulfuron. Prior treatment with malathion, a known inhibitor of cytochrome P450s, reduced the level of resistance to pyroxsulam. No mutations were detected from the partial *ALS* gene sequencing. Flow cytometry and chromosome counting rejected ploidy level variation between the susceptible and resistant biotypes. Relative copy number variation ruled out gene amplification. Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR) detected a significant difference in *ALS* gene expression between the susceptible and resistant biotypes.

CONCLUSIONS: Target gene overexpression and enhanced metabolism by cytochrome P450s are likely mechanisms of resistance to pyroxsulam in *Bromus sterilis*. The current findings highlight the need to monitor additional brome populations for herbicide resistance in Europe and endorse the need for alternate herbicides in integrated weed management to delay the possible evolution of herbicide resistance in these species.

© 2020 Society of Chemical Industry

Supporting information may be found in the online version of this article.

Keywords: Bromus sterilis; herbicide resistance; chromosome counting; copy number variation; ALS gene overexpression; CytP450s

1 INTRODUCTION

Bromus sterilis L. (barren brome), is an annual or biennial grass native to northern Africa, western and middle Asia and northern, central and eastern Europe.¹ In the Czech Republic, these troublesome weeds are known to occur in the lowland areas. Since the first reports in France (http://www.weedscience.org/Pages/Case. aspx?ResistID=9931), data pinpoint towards an astonishing rise in these noxious weeds triggering 30–60% yield losses in the productivity of winter wheat.^{2,3} Apart from yield losses, previous studies also indicated that these weeds could cause lodging and interfere with the harvesting processes.⁴ The evolution of herbicide resistance in *Bromus* species has jeopardized their management in Europe where pyroxsulam, propoxycarbazone, mesosulfuron, and sulfosulfuron are mainly used, to control this species.^{3,5}

Since their discovery and commercialization, acetolactate synthase (ALS)-inhibiting herbicides have been widely used for weed management due to their broad-spectrum weed control and low toxicity to mammals.^{6,7} The ALS enzyme catalyses the first step in the synthesis of the branched-chain amino acids valine, leucine, and isoleucine.⁸⁻¹¹ Currently, herbicides that target ALS

- * Correspondence to: J Soukup, Department of Agroecology and Crop Production, Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Kamýcká 129, 165 00 Prague 6, Suchdol, Czech Republic, E-mail: soukup@af.czu.cz
- ⁺ These authors contributed equally.
- a Department of Agroecology and Crop Production, Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Prague, Czech Republic
- b Department of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, The Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Prague, Czech Republic
- c Excellent Team for Mitigation (ETM), Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Prague, Czech Republic

are the most widely used herbicides in the world, resulting in maximum large number of weed species resistant to these herbicides.⁶ Herbicide resistance may evolve as a result of target-site resistance (TSR) or non-target site resistance (NTSR). TSR involves mutations within the protein-coding regions, which alter the conformations of the target protein and ultimately lead to a decreased affinity for the herbicide.^{6,8} The most common mutations linked with TSR to ALS-inhibiting herbicides in grass weeds are as follows: Ala-122, Pro-197, Ala-205, Asp-376, Arg-377, Trp-574, Ser-653 and Gly-654^{8,12,13} (the numbers are based on Arabidopsis thaliana ALS). TSR may also occur due to overexpression of the target gene, but these cases are much less frequent than the former.¹⁴ NTSR works by reducing the amount of herbicide which reaches the target site.¹⁴ The most common NTSR mechanisms are increased detoxification, enhanced metabolism, or reduced herbicide uptake and translocation.¹⁵⁻¹⁸ Among the NTSRs found in weed species, enhanced metabolism of the herbicides by the enzymes like CytP450^{15,19,20} is the most widely discussed mechanism. CytP450-mediated NTSR had been reported in many species like Lolium rigidum,²¹ Alopecurus myosuroides,²² etc. In addition to the CytP450s, glutathione-S-transferase (GSTs), glycosyltransferases and ABC transporters are also known to be involved with NTSRs.²³ Resistant populations of *Bromus ster*ilis from the United Kingdom showed elevated amounts of an orthologue of the glutathione transferase phi (F) class 1 protein.²⁴

Recently, farmers in the Czech Republic have also reported of resistance to ALS-inhibiting herbicides in Bromus sterilis biotypes. The recommended doses of pyroxsulam have failed to control this weed species in winter wheat fields of the Czech Republic. The involved resistance mechanisms must be discovered in these species before it becomes a global threat. The present study is the first detailed study on elucidating the mechanism of ALSinhibiting herbicide resistance in Bromus sterilis biotypes from the Czech Republic/central Europe. Single gene mutation, ALS gene overexpression, and enhanced metabolism via detoxification enzymes (i.e. CytP450s) were suspected as a putative source of herbicide resistance in Bromus sterilis biotypes. Potential cross-resistance to other relevant herbicides (commonly used ALS-inhibitors in many parts of Europe) were also examined. Current findings not only fill the existing knowledge gap in the field but also provide a basis for further research using comparative proteomic or epigenetic approaches to investigate how target gene overexpression is orchestrated at the molecular level.

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Plant materials and growth conditions

The susceptible (S) biotype was collected from the campus of the Czech University of Life Sciences Prague (50.1317956 N, 14.3692800E) and the resistant (R) biotype was collected from a winter wheat field in the Ústecký (Louny) region of the Czech Republic (50.2612525 N, 13.4818572E), where the farmer had reported resistance to pyroxsulam. The collected R and S biotype seeds were kept in the dark at room temperature until further use. Seed samples in bulk were collected from at least 100 plants, from the same field (as described earlier), to ensure variability in the field collection. Ten seeds were directly sown in pots of approximately 343 cm³, filled with chernozem soil [high fertility property and moisture storage capacity, clay content 46% (loamy soil), soil pH (potassium chloride) 7.5, sorption capacity of soil: 209 mmol 203 mg kg⁻¹ 87 mg kg^{-1} phosphorus, potassium, $(+)_{.}$ 197 mg kg^{-1} magnesium, 8073 mg kg⁻¹ calcium].The pot

experiments were conducted in an open-air vegetation hall (with roof-top, to avoid the rain). The seedlings were regularly watered, and fertilizers were applied as required.

2.2 Dose-response experiments

Pyroxsulam was applied to the biotypes (using a laboratory spray chamber equipped with a Lurmark 015F80 nozzle with spray volume of 250 L ha⁻¹ and pressure 120 kPa, as described by Hamouzová *et al.*,¹² at the two- to three-leaf stage at rates of 0.05925, 0.1875, 0.5925, 1.875, 5.925, 18.75, 59.25, 187.5 and 592.5 g a.i. (active ingredient) ha⁻¹, with four-pot replicates for each rate. Malathion (Malathion, PESTANAL[®], analytical standard, Sigma-Aldrich, Merck Group, St Louis, MO, USA) was sprayed at 1000 g ha⁻¹ of active ingredient, as described by Hamouzová *et al.*¹²

Biotypes were treated at the two- to three-leaf stage with sulfometuron-methyl at rates of 0.1659, 0.525, 1.659, 5.25, 16.59, 52.5, 165.9, 52.5, 16

2.3 Cross-resistance studies to other herbicides

Four different herbicides were used for cross-resistance studies, based on their frequency of use in the fields. The chosen herbicides were: sulfosulfuron, (applied at 19.5 g a.i. ha^{-1}) and a mixture of iodosulfuron-methyl-sodium, mesosulfuron-methyl and thiencarbazone-methyl (9 g + 45 g + 22.5 g; mixture applied at 25.47 g a.i. ha^{-1}). These experiments were conducted with four pot replicates for each herbicide. Herbicide efficacy was evaluated 28 days after treatment as biomass reduction in treated pots compared with untreated control.

2.4 ALS gene partial sequencing, determination of relative copy number and expression studies

Shock frozen leaf tissues (\pm 80 mg per sample) from R and S plants were collected for genomic DNA (gDNA) extraction using DNeasy Plant Mini Kit (QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany) following the manufacturer's instructions. RNA from the fresh leaf tissues (±80 mg per sample) was extracted using RNeasy Mini Kit (QIAGEN). High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) was used to reverse-transcribe the RNA templates. The gene-specific degenerate primers were designed based on the publicly available sequences of the ALS gene from Apera spica-venti (JN646110.1), Alopecurus myosuroides (AJ437300), Oryza sativa (AY885674, AY885675, AB049822, AB049823), Bromus tectorum (MK492423.1) and Beckmannia syzigachne (MG891930.1). The primers were designed using Primer-BLAST and Primer3 software. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed using a C1000 thermocycler (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), using 50 ng of total gDNA per reaction. The thermocycler was programmed at an initial denaturation step at 95 °C for 5 min, followed by 40 cycles of 5 s at 95 °C, 10 s at 59 to 60 °C (based on the annealing temperature of the primer pair) and 30 s at 72 °C along with a final extension step for 10 min at 72 °C. The PCR amplified products were separated in the 1.5% agarose gel and subsequently purified using GeneJET Gel Extraction Kit (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions. Finally, the gel-purified product was sent for custom DNA Sequencing (Eurofins Genomics Germany GmbH,

Ebersberg, Germany). The 3' UTR region of Bromus sterilis ALS was obtained using Gene Specific Primers (3' RACE outer primer and 3' RACE inner primer) and First Choice ® RLM-RACE Kit (Ambion, Austin TX, USA). Relative copy number and expression was conducted with StepOne[™] Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems) using genomic DNA (~10 ng), and complementary DNA (cDNA, ~10 ng) respectively as templates and gene-specific primers (GSP) (ALS_ Forward primer and ALS_ Reverse primer). For selecting the suitable reference gene, cycle threshold (Ct) values before (watertreated) and after herbicide treatment were compared with the four commonly used software: BestKeeper, NormFinder, geNorm and RefFinder.^{25,26} Ubiquitin was chosen as an internal standard as it was the most stable reference gene based on the number of times a gene has secured top or second position (Supporting Information Fig. S1 and Table S1). Partial ubiquitin gene sequence (168 bp) was submitted to the GenBank with an accession number MT193724 and primers (Ubiguitin Forward primer and Ubiquitin_Reverse primer) were designed for real-time PCR-based gene expression normalization. The relative copy number and expression level of the ALS gene in S and R biotype, after herbicide treatment, were calculated using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method.^{27,28} The realtime PCR experiments were conducted with nine biological replicates from each biotype. DNA and RNA integrity was confirmed by running the samples on 0.8% and 1.2% agarose gel, respectively. The list of primers is provided in Table S2.

2.5 Estimation of ploidy level and chromosome counting

Leaf samples from each R and S biotypes were analysed by flow cytometry, using a Partec PAS flow cytometer (Partec GmbH, Münster, Germany) equipped with a high-pressure mercury arc lamp, as described by Zahumenická *et al.*²⁹ Chromosome counting was performed using α -bromonaphthalene pretreatment.³⁰

2.6 Statistical analysis

Data analysis and dose–response curves were plotted by nonlinear regression model using R-Studio program (https://www.rproject.org/) as described by Hamouzová *et al.*¹² GR₅₀ (50% growth inhibition) values were calculated for each biotype and compared. The resistance factor (RF) ratios were calculated as the ratio of GR₅₀ of the R biotype and the GR₅₀ of the S biotype. For the cross-resistance studies, the selected herbicides were applied at their recommended field doses, and the results were verified by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) in R-Studio program and were compared based on Tukey's *post hoc* analysis (5% significance level).³¹ The results for relative *ALS* copy number and relative *ALS* expression were compared using two-sample *t*-test in Excel with XLSTAT (version 2020.3) (https://www.xlstat.com/en/).

3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Whole plant dose-response to pyroxsulam (with and without malathion) and sensitivity to sulfometuronmethyl and propoxycarbazone

From the dose-response experiments the GR_{50} of the R biotype (25.89 g a.i. ha⁻¹) was higher than the recommended field dose for pyroxsulam, while the S biotype GR_{50} value was 0.09 g a.i. ha⁻¹.The resulting resistance index was 287.67 (Table 1). These results indicate high resistance to pyroxsulam in the R biotype. When malathion (at the rate of 1000 g a.i. ha⁻¹) was applied prior to pyroxsulam, the resistance index decreased by almost 1.6-fold compared to the plants treated with pyroxsulam alone (Fig. 1(A, B)). The GR₅₀ values and resistance index values with and without

malathion are shown in Table 1. Applying malathion alone at the same rate resulted in no effect (data not shown). The reduction in resistance with malathion indicated the involvement of Cytochrome P450s in resistance to pyroxsulam. The R biotype was also resistant to sulfometuron-methyl with a resistance index of 88.10 (Fig. 1(C)). The GR₅₀ values for R and S biotypes were 31.46 and 0.36, respectively, which is an indication that the resistant plants may also possess TSR. The GR₅₀ of the R biotype to propoxycarbazone (181.12 g a.i. ha⁻¹) was higher than the recommended field dose whereas the GR₅₀ of the S biotypes was only 0.32 g a.i. ha⁻¹, giving a resistance index of 574.980, confirming a high level of resistance to propoxycarbazone (Fig. 1(D)). Therefore, the pyroxsulam resistant biotype is cross-resistant to propoxycarbazone and sulfometuron-methyl.

3.2 Cross-resistance to other herbicides

lodosulfuron, mesosulfuron and sulfosulfuron belong to sulfonylurea group of herbicides, whereas pyroxsulam and propoxycarbazone belong to triazolopyrimidines and sulfonylaminocarbonyltriazolinone group of herbicides, respectively. Based on the dry weight of surviving plants, we found that the pyroxsulam and propoxycarbazone R biotype was also resistant to iodosulfuron plus mesosulfuron and sulfosulfuron (Table 2). Similar results were also reported by Nakka et al.; wherein the resistance to chlorsulfuron in a R biotype of Amaranthus palmeri S. Watson was contributed by enhanced metabolism and also conferred cross-resistance to other chemical classes of ALS inhibitors.³² Beckie and Tardif have suggested that enhanced metabolism can be responsible for cross-resistance.³³

3.3 ALS gene mutations

TSR was tested for by partial amplification of the ALS gene using different primer pairs covering mutation points such as Ala-122, Pro-197 and Ala-205 (first primer pair), Asp-376 and Arg-377 (second primer pair), Trp-574, Ser-653 and Gly-654 (third primer pair). The resulting ALS gene sequence (1779 bp partial) from a combination of all three primer pairs based 3' RACE PCR was submitted to the GenBank (an accession number MT113952). Comparison among the R and S biotypes, based on the partially amplified ALS gene showed no mutations at the positions Ala-122, Pro-197, Ala-205, Asp-376, Arg-377, Trp-574, Ser-653 and Gly-654 (Fig. 2). Despite the variation in gene length, the mature ALS protein consists of five conserved domains in higher plants.³⁴ Single point mutations in each domain have the potential to confer resistance in resistant weeds.^{34,35} Although no mutation was found here, ALS mutations conferring resistance to ALS inhibitors have been identified in weed species, like Bromus tectorum L.,³⁵ Scirpus juncoides,³⁶ Hordeum leporinum,³⁷ L. rigidum³⁸ and Alopecurus myosuroides.³⁹

3.4 Investigation on ploidy level variation along with chromosome counting and ALS gene copy number variation analysis

Yu *et al.* had suggested that polyploid weed species show lower levels of TSR, owing to their multiple homoeologous copies of the target gene.⁴⁰ To investigate the ploidy level variation, we used flow-cytometry and cell counting. The flow cytometry results revealed no difference in DNA content between the biotypes (Fig. S2). Therefore, no ploidy level variation was present. Furthermore, chromosome counting (picture not shown) was done to confirm the flow cytometry results. Our result showed that both R and S biotypes are diploid, with 14 chromosomes in each cell.



Table 1. Result from the non-linear regression analysis of pyroxsulam dose-response experiment for resistant (R) and susceptible (S) biotype									
Biotype	b (SE)	d (SE)	GR ₅₀ (SE)	RF					
R_ pyroxsulam	1.67 (0.38)	1.20 (0.03)	25.89 (2.71)	287.67					
S_ pyroxsulam	0.39 (0.05)	1.54 (0.09)	0.09 (0.04)						
R_pyroxsulam + malathion	3.64 (1.11)	1.01 (0.03)	8.98 (1.36)	179.60					
S_pyroxsulam + malathion	1.77 (0.52)	1.46 (0.06)	0.05 (0.01)						
R_ sulfometuron-methyl	1.50 (0.29)	1.25 (0.30)	31.46 (3.77)	88.10					
R_ sulfometuron-methyl	0.97 (0.14)	1.46 (0.05)	0.36 (0.05)						

The parameters used are as follow: 'd' is the upper limit, 'b' is the slope around the GR_{50} , 'SE' represents the standard error, ' GR_{50} ' is the rate of herbicide (g a.e. ha⁻¹) required to reduce shoot dry weight by 50%, 'resistance factor (RF)' is calculated with resistant/susceptible based on GR_{50} ratios.



Figure 1. Fitted logarithmic dose-response curves for *Bromus sterilis* (A) susceptible (S) biotype (with and without malathion), (B) the resistant (R) biotype (with and without malathion), (C) with sulfometuron-methyl and (D) with propoxycarbazone.

Reports have suggested the link between copy number variation (CNV) of herbicide target genes and the evolution of herbicide resistance.⁴¹ Target gene CNV has been observed in glyphosate resistance, further emphasizing the importance to determine copy numbers of genes which code for the herbicide target enzyme.⁴² In the present study, amplification of the

Table 2. Results for cross-resistance studies										
Biotype	Dose (g a.e. ha^{-1})	Average biomass weight (standard deviation)	Significance level (at 5% significance level)							
R_ Untreated	0	1.19 (0.06)	e							
S_ Untreated	0	1.46 (0.16)	e							
R_iodosulfuron+mesosulfuron	25.47	0.67 (0.04)	c							
S_iodosulfuron+mesosulfuron	25.47	0.08 (0.01)	a							
R_sulfosulfuron	19.5	0.98 (0.07)	d							
S_sulfosulfuron	19.5	0.13 (0.02)	а							

The dry biomasses from resistant (R) biotype and the susceptible (S) biotype of Bromus sterilis were compared using Tukey's test for post hoc analysis (5% significance level).

Bromus sterilis_S	GCC	CCC	GCG	GAC	CGC	TGG	AGC	GGT
Bromus sterilis_R	GCC	CCC	GCG	GAC	CGC	TGG	AGC	GGT
—	Ala-122	Pro-197	Ala-205	Asp-376	Arg-377	Trp-574	Ser-653	Gly-654

Figure 2. Partial ALS gene sequencing results. The ALS sequences obtained from the 30 individuals of each biotype were compared. The numbers are based on Arabidopsis thaliana ALS.

genomic DNA by quantitative real-time PCR showed that the relative ALS gene copy did not differ between R and S biotypes (Fig. 3(A)), confirming that gene amplification is not responsible for pyroxsulam resistance.

3.5 ALS gene expression

A significant difference in ALS gene expression was detected between the biotypes. The ALS gene in the R biotype showed almost 2x expression, compared to the S biotype (Fig. 3(B)). Hence, our results indicate that ALS gene overexpression (but not due to CNV) might contribute to resistance to pyroxsulam. A plausible explanation for this phenomenon of ALS gene overexpression (without gene amplification), might be due to involvement of transcriptional regulation and/or epigenetic regulation of gene expression. However, such possibilities demand further experimental validation. Despite its genetically homogeneous nature, cells within multicellular organisms are functionally different from each other due to the differential expression patterns of the genes.⁴³ Epigenetic changes include changes due to DNA and histone modifications, non-coding RNAs (like microRNA, small interfering RNA), methylation patterns and others, which result in alleles with a similar sequence of DNA but with differential expression patterns.^{43,44} Earlier studies on model plant species have already demonstrated that plants could cope with abiotic stresses by reorganizing gene expression patterns through epigenetic changes.^{45,46} Markus et al., suggested that epigenetic changes might help weeds to rapidly mitigate herbicidal stresses by various mechanisms as gene duplication, differential target gene expression or transposable element changes.⁴⁷ Further research is necessary to confirm the role of higher ALS gene expression in resistance.

4 CONCLUSIONS

Our results indicate that the biotype from the Czech Republic is resistant to pyroxsulam and cross-resistant to propoxycarbazone, iodosulfuron plus mesosulfuron and sulfosulfuron. We did not detect a mutation in the ALS gene in Bromus sterilis. Flow cytometry and relative copy number determination result excluded ALS gene amplification as a putative pyroxsulam resistance





28



mechanism in this biotype. Current findings indicated that the resistance is likely associated with overexpression of the ALS gene (almost two-fold overexpression) and enhanced metabolism (by CytP450s). Future RNA-sequencing based transcriptome analysis to identify the differential expression of different cytochrome P450s or studies elucidating epigenetic mechanisms underlying the observed overexpression of ALS gene can shed light on the precise mechanism of herbicide resistance in *Bromus sterilis*. As only ALS inhibiting herbicides are registered products for selective control of *Bromus sterilis* in cereals, the results of the study confirming strong ALS resistance are an early warning for farmers and a challenge for the systematic use of integrated weed management strategies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors also acknowledge Dr Todd Gaines (Department of Bioagricultural Sciences and Pest Management, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO, USA), Dr Jan Bílý (Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague), Mr Ram Kumar (Department of Plant Protection, Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague) and the Department of Crop Sciences and Agroforestry, Faculty of Tropical AgriSciences, Czech University of Life Sciences for consultations and technical assistance. Many thanks to Dr Theresa Reinhards for English proofreading and formal revisions.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

M.K.S., K.H., A.R. and J.S. planned the experiments. M.K.S., K.H., A.R., J.M., R.B., P.K. and P.H. conducted the experiments. M.K.S., K.H., R.B and A.R. performed the bioinformatics and statistical analysis. M.K.S., K.H., A.R., J.M., R.B. and J.S. analysed the results and wrote the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors have declared no conflict of interest.

COMPLIANCE WITH ETHICS REQUIREMENTS

This article does not contain any studies with human or animal subjects.

FUNDINGS

This work was financially supported by the National Agency for Agricultural Research project (QK1820081). Infrastructural support for molecular biology work and salary for A.R. is obtained from grant 'EXTEMIT - K,' No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/15_003/0000433 financed by OP RDE.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Supporting information may be found in the online version of this article.

REFERENCES

1 Allen PS and Meyer SE, Ecology and ecological genetics of seed dormancy in downy brome. *Weed Sci* **50**:241–247 (2002).

- 2 Valičková V, Hamouzová K, Kolářová M and Soukup J, Germination responses to water potential in *Bromus sterilis* L. under different temperatures and light regimes. *Plant Soil Environ* **63**:368–374 (2017).
- 3 Jursík M, Kolářová M, Soukup J and Žďárková V, Effects of adjuvants and carriers on propoxycarbazone and pyroxsulam efficacy on Bromus sterilis in winter wheat. Plant Soil Environ 62:447–452 (2016).
- 4 Moray R, Büchse A and Hurle K, Bromus species in winter wheatpopulation dynamics and competitiveness. *Commun Agric Appl Biol Sci* **68**:341–352 (2003).
- 5 Geier PW, Stahlman PW, Peterson DE and Claassen MM, Pyroxsulam compared with competitive standards for efficacy in winter wheat. *Weed Technol* **25**:316–321 (2011).
- 6 Anthimidou E, Ntoanidou S, Madesis P and Eleftherohorinos I, Mechanisms of *Lolium rigidum* multiple resistance to ALS- and ACCaseinhibiting herbicides and their impact on plant fitness. *Pest Biochem Physiol* **164**:65–72 (2020).
- 7 Mazur BJ and Falco SC, The development of herbicide resistant crops. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol **40**:441–470 (1989).
- 8 Rey-Caballero J, Menéndez J, Osuna MD, Salas M and Torra J, Targetsite and non-target-site resistance mechanisms to ALS inhibiting herbicides in *Papaver rhoeas*. *Pest Biochem Physiol* **138**:57–65 (2017).
- 9 Duggleby RG, McCourt JA and Guddat LW, Structure and mechanism of inhibition of plant acetohydroxyacid synthase. *Plant Physiol Biochem* **46**:309–324 (2008).
- 10 Chipman D, Barak Z and Schloss JV, Biosynthesis of 2-aceto-2-hydroxy acids: acetolactate synthases and acetohydroxyacid synthases. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1385**:401–419 (1998).
- 11 Schloss JV, Recent advances in understanding the mechanism and inhibition of acetolactate synthase, in *Herbicides Inhibiting Branched-Chain Amino Acid Biosynthesis: Recent Developments*, ed. by Stetter J. Springer, Berlin, pp. 3–14 (1994).
- 12 Hamouzová K, Košnarová P, Salava J, Soukup J and Hamouz P, Mechanisms of resistance to acetolactate synthase-inhibiting herbicides in populations of *Apera spica-venti* from the Czech Republic. *Pest Manag Sci* **70**:541–548 (2014).
- 13 McNaughton KE, Letarte J, Lee EA and Tardif FJ, Mutations in ALS confer herbicide resistance in redroot pigweed (*Amaranthus retroflexus*) and Powell amaranth (*Amaranthus powellii*). Weed Sci 53:17–22 (2005).
- 14 Gaines TA, Duke SO, Morran S, Rigon CAG, Tranel PJ, Küpper A et al., Mechanisms of evolved herbicide resistance. J Biol Chem **295**: 10307–10330 (2020).
- 15 Jugulam M and Shyam C, Non-target-site resistance to herbicides: recent developments. *Plants* **8**:417 (2019).
- 16 Baucom RS, Evolutionary and ecological insights from herbicideresistant weeds: what have we learned about plant adaptation, and what is left to uncover? *New Phytol* **223**:68–82 (2019).
- 17 Tétard-Jones C, Sabbadin F, Moss S, Hull R, Neve P and Edwards R, Changes in the proteome of the problem weed blackgrass correlating with multiple-herbicide resistance. *Plant J* 94:709–720 (2018).
- 18 Scarabel L, Pernin F and Délye C, Occurrence, genetic control and evolution of non-target-site based resistance to herbicides inhibiting acetolactate synthase (ALS) in the dicot weed *Papaver rhoeas*. *Plant Sci* 238:158–169 (2015).
- 19 Ghanizadeh H and Harrington KC, Non-target site mechanisms of resistance to herbicides. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 36:24–34 (2017).
- 20 Liu W, Bai S, Zhao N, Jia S, Li W, Zhang L *et al.*, Non-target site-based resistance to tribenuron-methyl and essential involved genes in *Myosoton aquaticum* (L). *BMC Plant Biol* **18**:225 (2018).
- 21 Gaines TA, Lorentz L, Figge A, Herrmann J, Maiwald F, Ott M-C *et al.*, RNA-Seq transcriptome analysis to identify genes involved in metabolism-based diclofop resistance in *Lolium rigidum*. *Plant J* **78**: 865–876 (2014).
- 22 Délye C, Gardin JAC, Boucansaud K, Chauvel B and Petit C, Non-targetsite-based resistance should be the centre of attention for herbicide resistance research: *Alopecurus myosuroides* as an illustration. *Weed Res* **51**:433–437 (2011).
- 23 Pan L, Gao H, Xia W, Zhang T, and Dong L, Establishing a herbicidemetabolizing enzyme library in Beckmannia syzigachne to identify genes associated with metabolic resistance. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 67:1745–1757 (2016).
- 24 Davies LR, Onkokesung N, Brazier-Hicks M, Edwards R and Moss S, Detection and characterization of resistance to acetolactate synthase inhibiting herbicides in *Anisantha* and *Bromus* species in the United Kingdom. *Pest Manag Sci* **76**:2473–2482 (2020).

- 25 Chen J, Huang Z, Huang H, Wei S, Liu Y, Jiang C et al., Selection of relatively exact reference genes for gene expression studies in goosegrass (*Eleusine indica*) under herbicide stress. *Scientific Reports* 7: 46494 (2017).
- 26 Xu H, Li J, Wu R, Su W, Wu X, Wang L et al., Identification of reference genes for studying herbicide resistance mechanisms in Japanese foxtail (Alopecurus japonicus). Weed Science 65:557–566 (2017).
- 27 Roy A and Palli SR, Epigenetic modifications acetylation and deacetylation play important roles in juvenile hormone action. *BMC Genomics* 19:934 (2018).
- 28 Rao X, Huang X, Zhou Z and Lin X, An improvement of the 2^(-delta delta CT) method for quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction data analysis. *Biostat Bioinform Biomath* **3**:71–85 (2013).
- 29 Zahumenická P, Fernández E, Šedivá J, Žiarovská J, Ros-Santaella JL, Martínez-Fernández D et al., Morphological, physiological and genomic comparisons between diploids and induced tetraploids in Anemone sylvestris L. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult **132**:317–327 (2018).
- 30 Singh RJ, Practical Manual on Plant Cytogenetics. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL (2017).
- 31 Pekár S and Brabec M, Modern Analysis of Biological Data: Generalized Linear Models in R. Masarykova Univerzita, Brno (2016).
- 32 Nakka S, Thompson CR, Peterson DE and Jugulam M, Target site-based and non-target site based resistance to ALS inhibitors in Palmer amaranth (*Amaranthus palmeri*). Weed Sci **65**:681–689 (2017).
- 33 Beckie HJ and Tardif FJ, Herbicide cross resistance in weeds. Crop Prot 35:15–28 (2012).
- 34 Boutsalis P, Karotam J and Powles SB, Molecular basis of resistance to acetolactate synthase-inhibiting herbicides in *Sisymbrium orientale* and *Brassica tournefortii. Pest Sci* **55**:507–516 (1999).
- 35 Park KW and Mallory-Smith CA, Physiological and molecular basis for ALS inhibitor resistance in *Bromus tectorum* biotypes. *Weed Res* **44**: 71–77 (2004).
- 36 Uchino A, Ogata S, Kohara H, Yoshida S, Yoshioka T and Watanabe H, Molecular basis of diverse responses to acetolactate synthase-

inhibiting herbicides in sulfonylurea-resistant biotypes of *Schoeno-plectus juncoides*. Weed Biol Manag **7**:89–96 (2007).

- 37 Yu Q, Nelson JK, Zheng MQ, Jackson M and Powles SB, Molecular characterisation of resistance to ALS-inhibiting herbicides in *Hordeum leporinum* biotypes. *Pest Manag Sci* **63**:918–927 (2007).
- 38 Tan M-K, Preston C and Wang G-X, Molecular basis of multiple resistance to ACCase-inhibiting and ALS-inhibiting herbicides in *Lolium rigidum. Weed Res* **47**:534–541 (2007).
- 39 Délye C and Boucansaud K, A molecular assay for the proactive detection of target site-based resistance to herbicides inhibiting acetolactate synthase in *Alopecurus myosuroides*. Weed Res 48:97–101 (2008).
- 40 Yu Q, Ahmad-Hamdani MS, Han H, Christoffers MJ and Powles SB, Herbicide resistance-endowing ACCase gene mutations in hexaploid wild oat (*Avena fatua*): insights into resistance evolution in a hexaploid species. *Heredity* **110**:220–231 (2013).
- 41 Iwakami S, Shimono Y, Manabe Y, Endo M, Shibaike H, Uchino A *et al.*, Copy number variation in acetolactate synthase genes of thifensulfuron-methyl resistant *Alopecurus aequalis* (Shortawn foxtail) accessions in Japan. *Front Plant Sci* **8**:254 (2017).
- 42 Sammons RD and Gaines TA, Glyphosate resistance: state of knowledge. *Pest Manag Sci* **70**:1367–1377 (2014).
- 43 Jaenisch R and Bird A, Epigenetic regulation of gene expression: how the genome integrates intrinsic and environmental signals. *Nat Genet* **33**:245–254 (2003).
- 44 Wolffe AP and Matzke MA, Epigenetics: regulation through repression. Science **286**:481–486 (1999).
- 45 Chang Y-N, Zhu C, Jiang J, Zhang H, Zhu J-K and Duan C-G, Epigenetic regulation in plant abiotic stress responses. *J Integr Plant Biol* **62**: 563–580 (2020).
- 46 Kim J-M, Sasaki T, Ueda M, Sako K and Seki M, Chromatin changes in response to drought, salinity, heat, and cold stresses in plants. *Front Plant Sci* **6**:114 (2015).
- 47 Markus C, Pecinka A, Karan R, Barney JN and Merotto A, Epigenetic regulation – contribution to herbicide resistance in weeds? *Pest Manag Sci* 74:275–281 (2018).

scientific reports

OPEN



Identification of the most suitable reference gene for gene expression studies with development and abiotic stress response in *Bromus sterilis*

Madhab Kumar Sen¹, Kateřina Hamouzová¹, Pavlina Košnarová¹, Amit Roy^{2,3} & Josef Soukup^{1,3⊠}

Bromus sterilis is an annual weedy grass, causing high yield losses in winter cereals. Frequent use of herbicides had led to the evolution of herbicide resistance in this species. Mechanisms underlying herbicide resistance in *B. sterilis* must be uncovered because this problem is becoming a global threat. qRT-PCR and the next-generation sequencing technologies can elucidate the resistance mechanisms. Although qRT-PCR can calculate precise fold changes, its preciseness depends on the expression of reference genes. Regardless of stable expression in any given condition, no gene can act as a universal reference gene. Hence, it is necessary to identify the suitable reference gene for each species. To our knowledge, there are no reports on the suitable reference gene in any brome species so far. Thus, in this paper, the stability of eight genes was evaluated using qRT-PCR experiments followed by expression stability ranking via five most commonly used software for reference gene selection. Our findings suggest using a combination of *18S rRNA* and *ACCase* to normalise the qRT-PCR data in *B. sterilis*. Besides, reference genes are also recommended for different experimental conditions. The present study outcomes will facilitate future molecular work in *B. sterilis* and other related grass species.

One of the major plant protection problems encountered by farmers across the globe is regarding weeds. Herbicides have been widely used to manage weeds and magnify the main crop's yield quality and quantity. Despite their success in managing weeds, constant use of similar herbicides has evolved resistance in many weedy species. Owing to its rapid population dynamics and lack of efficient herbicides, barren brome (*Bromus sterilis* L.) has grown into a troublesome weed in winter cereals in many south and north American countries, middle and west Europe^{1–3}. Besides the most frequent acetolactate synthase (ALS) and acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) resistance in Europe (http://www.weedscience.org/Home.aspx), United Kingdom also reported *B. sterilis* resistance against glyphosate in 2019⁴. These results indicate the prerequisite for monitoring more barren brome populations. Gene expression studies have contributed immensely in elucidating the target gene amplification and expression and the over-expression of detoxifying enzyme genes related to herbicide resistance and other abiotic stresses^{5,6}. Moreover, with the development of next-generation sequencing technologies, there is a need to validate the expression of a greater number of genes involved in abiotic stresses^{7,8}. qRT-PCR is widely used for such comparative gene expression studies. However, the reliability of the qRT-PCR depends on the selection of a stable reference gene.

Compared to the traditional polymerase chain reaction (PCR), quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) has many advantages like high specificity, rapidity and sensitivity, making it an essential part of comparative expression studies^{9,10}. Previously, the relative quantification of gene expression was done either by Northern blot or by reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). The most important limitation

¹Department of Agroecology and Crop Production, Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Kamýcká 1176, 165 00 Prague 6, Suchdol, Czech Republic. ²Faculty of Forestry and Wood Sciences, EXTEMIT-K and EVA.4.0 Unit, Czech University of Life Sciences, Kamýcká 1176, 165 00 Prague 6, Suchdol, Czech Republic. ³These authors contributed equally: Amit Roy and Josef Soukup. ^{\Box}email: soukup@ af.czu.cz

of these methods is their inability to detect extremely low expression, resulting in replacing the pre-existing methods with microarrays and qRT-PCR^{9,11}. Even though these modern techniques are highly sensitive and can calculate precise fold changes, their preciseness is highly dependent on the expression of a reference gene. Ideally, a reference gene refers to constitutive genes required to maintain the basic cellular functions of an organism. These genes are known to have stable gene expression in all cells under both normal and pathophysiological conditions¹²⁻¹⁴. However, the steps of qRT-PCR are reclined to variations; therefore, to overcome these variations, target gene transcription levels must be normalised to reference genes transcription levels. Any error in selecting a suitable reference gene may lead to misleading results. Hence, selecting a reliable reference gene is necessary for molecular biology-oriented studies^{9,14-17}. The most commonly used references genes for normalisation of plant gene expression studies are ubiquitin (UBQ), β-tubulin (β-TUB), ribosomal RNA genes (18S rRNA and 25S rRNA), glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), eukaryotic elongation factor (eEF), eukaryotic translation initiation factor 1 (eIF1), actin (ACT), acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACCase) etc.^{9,18}. Although these genes are known to have a stable expression in any given condition, several studies documented variability in their expression level between species of plants or different stress conditions or developmental stages¹⁹⁻²¹. As no gene can act as a universal reference, it is necessary to systematically select and identify the suitable reference gene for each species^{22,23}.

There are no reports of a suitable reference gene in *B. sterilis* or any other brome species. Our study aims to identify a suitable reference gene for gene expression studies in *B. sterilis* (or barren brome). Increasing the number of treatments might lead to more variations in results, which decreases the chance of identifying a suitable reference gene⁹. In this study, we had selected eight common candidate reference genes (*UBQ, ACT, GAPDH, 18S rRNA, 25S rRNA, ACCase, β-TUB* and *eEF*) identified in *B. sterilis* and evaluated the stability of their gene expression in three developmental stages (two-leaves, three-leaves and four-leaves), two different plant organs (shoots and leaves) and one abiotic stress (drought stress). Among the various severe issues with detrimental effects, climate change has remained a top priority. Global warming has resulted in an increase of air temperature and evapotranspiration, leading to agricultural droughts, affecting both crops and weeds.

Low soil moisture increase the competition for water and nutrients between weeds and the crop, thus making weed management complicated. Some (usually C4) weed species gain profit from this situation. Uptake and translocation of herbicides within the plant is reduced, thereby affecting the efficacy of the applied herbicides. Hence, interest for studies under drought is recently rising²⁴, which might require expression studies with several genes of interest. Therefore, drought stress has been included in the present study, and our recommended reference genes will be helpful in future drought-related studies.

The most suitable candidate was selected based on the ranking provided by different widely used statistical software for reference gene analysis (comparative Δ Ct, BestKeeper, NormFinder, geNorm and RefFinder). Additionally, the most suitable reference gene was used to validate a herbicide-stress experiment. Thus, our study provides a basis for identifying the suitable reference gene for future gene expression studies in *B. sterilis* and will aid in impending studies on the molecular basis underlying the herbicide resistance in barren brome.

Results

Primer efficiency and candidate genes expression. 1.2% agarose gel electrophoresis was used to check the integrity of the RNA. In addition, the quantity and quality of RNA were evaluated by a nanodrop spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific[™], US). The A260/A280 values ranged from 1.90 to 2.05. These samples were further used to synthesise cDNA, which was used for the qRT-PCR experiments. In all the qRT-PCR amplification, a single peak was obtained (supplementary Fig. 1). The selected primers for this study showed a single band in the 1.5% agarose gel (supplementary Fig. 2) and had efficiency values ranged between 92.32 and 106.79%, which falls under the acceptable range. The correlation coefficient values ranged from 0.980 to 0.999 (Table 1). The expression profile of the 8 candidate genes under different experimental conditions is shown in the Fig. 1. *18s rRNA* showed the lowest cycle threshold value (Ct), indicating high expression of the gene, whereas *ACT* showed the highest Ct value indicating low expression.

Gene expression stability analysis. Developmental stages-related experiments. 18S rRNA was identified as the stable reference gene by comparative Δ Ct and RefFinder. BestKeeper software identified ACCase as the most stable reference gene (Table 2). NormFinder analysis revealed 18S rRNA and eEF as the most stable genes, whereas geNorm analysis ranked 18S rRNA and ACCase as the best reference gene for developmental stages-related experiments in *B. sterilis* (Table 2, Fig. 2). Except, comparative Δ Ct, all the used software identified GAPDH as the least stable gene.

Plant organs related studies. In gene expression studies with the plant organs, *18S rRNA* has been ranked as the most stable gene by comparative Δ Ct, BestKeeper and RefFinder (Table 2). NormFinder analysis identified *ACCase* and eEF as the most stable genes (Table 2). Based on the geNorm analysis, *18S rRNA* and *ACCase* might be the best reference gene for plant organs-related studies in *B. sterilis* (Fig. 2). β -TUB was identified as the least stable gene by comparative Δ Ct, BestKeeper and RefFinder, whereas NormFinder and geNorm analysis identified GAPDH as the least stable gene.

Under drought stress. For studies under drought stress, comparative Δ Ct and RefFinder identified *18S rRNA* as the most suitable reference gene (Table 2). BestKeeper software identified *ACCase* as the most stable reference gene (Table 2). NormFinder analysis revealed *GAPDH* and *18S rRNA* as the most stable genes, whereas geNorm analysis ranked *18S rRNA* and β -*TUB* as the best reference gene (Table 2, Fig. 2). *eEF* was identified as the least

Gene	Sequence	Annealing temperature (°C)	Amplicon length (bp)	Primer efficiency (%)	R ² value
<i>Ubiquitin_</i> forward primer	GCACAAGCACAA GAAGGTGA		120	00.46	0.007
<i>Ubiquitin_</i> reverse primer	AGTGGTTTGCCA TGAAGGTC	60	120	99.40	0.997
Actin_forward primer	ATGCGATTCTTCGTT TGGAC		170	102.24	0.080
Actin_reverse primer	GATGTCTCCAGC TCCTGCTC		172	102.54	0.960
GAPDH_forward primer	AGCGACATCAAG CTCAAGAA		241	02.44	0.004
GAPDH_reverse primer	CGTTGACACCAA CCACAAAC		241	92.44	0.994
18S rRNA_forward primer	AAACGGCTACCA CATCCAAG	50	154	92.42	0.000
18S rRNA_reverse primer	CCTCCAATGGATCCT CGTTA	50	134		0.999
25S rRNA_forward primer	CCCAGTGCTCTG AATGTCAA		211	02.22	0.999
25S rRNA_reverse primer	GTCTTCTTTCCC CGCTGATT		211	92.52	
ACCase_forward primer	GCTGCTATTGCCAGT GCTTA		171	05 77	0.020
ACCase_reverse primer	AAGCTTGTTCAG GGCAGAAA		171	93.77	0.989
β- <i>Tubulin</i> _forward primer	AGTACCGTGCCC TCACAGTC	57	150	106.70	0.996
β- <i>Tubulin</i> _reverse primer	TCTGCTCGTCAACCT CCTTT	57	150	100.79	
eukaryotic elongation factor_forward primer	CCTGCACTGTCATTG ATGCT		195	94.51	0.988
eukaryotic elongation factor_reverse primer	CTGCCTGACACC AAGAGTGA		105	77.51	0.988

Table 1. Primer information of the eight candidate reference genes.

stable gene by Δ Ct, BestKeeper and RefFinder, whereas NormFinder and geNorm analysis identified *UBQ* as the least stable gene for studies under drought stress on *B. sterilis*.

Combined conditions. When all the conditions were taken together, 18S rRNA was identified as the most stable reference gene, irrespective of the method (Table 2, Fig. 2). NormFinder analysis results for combined conditions revealed that UBQ and ACCase could be considered the best reference gene, and the geNorm algorithm ranked 18S rRNA and ACCase, as the best reference gene (Table 2, Fig. 2). β -TUB was identified as the least stable gene by comparative Δ Ct, BestKeeper and RefFinder, whereas NormFinder and geNorm analysis identified GAPDH as the least stable gene.

Pairwise variation analysis. The pairwise variation (Vn/Vn + 1) was calculated based on the geNorm algorithm. The optimal number of the reference genes required for the normalisation were determined from the pairwise variation results, based on the average expression stability (M) values (cutoff: M < 1.5). The optimal number of the reference genes required for the normalisation for experiments related to the developmental stages and plant organs are 1 and 2, respectively. However, to avoid any biases in the normalization, we recommend using 2 reference genes for developmental stages. Hence, we recommend using 18S rRNA and ACCase, as housekeeping genes for developmental stages and plant organ-related studies in *B. sterilis*. Under drought stress, 4 candidate genes (18S rRNA, β -TUB, 25S rRNA and ACCase) were considered suitable for normalisation. When all the conditions were considered together, the pairwise variation result suggested that 2 reference genes will be required for the normalisation (Fig. 3). Therefore, 18S rRNA and ACCase were identified as the most suitable gene when all the conditions were considered together.

Relative expression of the *acetolactate synthase* (*ALS*) gene under herbicide stress. Based on the analysis of the commonly used software for reference gene analysis, *18S rRNA* and a combination of *18S rRNA* and *ACCase* were identified as the most suitable candidate genes for gene expression studies in *Bromus sterilis*, whereas β -*TUB* as the most unstable gene. To validate the reliability of the candidate genes, relative expression of the *acetolactate synthase* under herbicide stress was evaluated using the best and the least stable candidate genes. When normalised with *18S rRNA* and a combination of 18S rRNA and ACCase, *B. sterilis* biotype showed twofold *ALS* gene overexpression after herbicide treatment compared to the control, whereas with β -*TUB*, the result is almost eight times (Fig. 4).



Figure 1. Expression levels of the eight candidate genes. Ct values obtained from three developmental stages (2nd, 3rd and 4th leaves), two different plant organs (shoots and leaves) and abiotic stress (drought stress) were compared and plotted.

Discussion

Recent reports from the United Kingdom and the Czech Republic on *B. sterilis*, developing resistance against commonly used herbicides, indicate that if they remained uncontrolled, these species might become a concern worldwide^{25,26}. Herbicide resistance mechanisms can be target-site based (TSR) and/or non-target site-based (NTSR). Target-site based mechanisms involve nucleotide polymorphisms²⁷, gene amplification⁶ and gene over-expression²⁸, whereas increased detoxification by enhanced metabolism^{29,30} and/or reduced herbicide uptake and translocation²⁹ fall under non-target site-based herbicide resistance. Irrespective of the mechanism/s of resistance, qRT-PCR and the next-generation sequencing technologies have been used recently as a common technique to investigate the resistance mechanism in different weed species⁵. qRT-PCR experiments require an appropriate reference gene to normalise the target transcript levels. Any misapprehension in selecting a stable reference gene might lead to ambiguous results. Hence, the selection of a reliable reference gene is obligatory. Even though suitable candidate genes under different experimental condition were identified in many weedy species, like *Alopecurus sp.*²⁰, *Eleusine* sp.⁸, *Avena* sp.^{31,32,33}, *Descurainia* sp.³⁴ etc., but to date, there are no reports on the systematic selection of stable reference genes under any conditions for barren brome or any other related brome species.

This study used qRT-PCR to evaluate the expression stability of eight candidate reference genes in barren brome under different experimental conditions. The most stable reference genes for each experimental condition were identified exclusively. geNorm software identified the ideal pair of genes with the minor variation in their expression ratios for each experimental condition. For studies related to life stages, geNorm identified that combining two reference genes would be suitable for normalising the qRT-PCR based gene expression values. *18S rRNA and ACCase* was chosen as the best reference gene for the studies with life stages of *B. sterilis*. For studies related to plant organs and under drought stress, pairwise variation analysis recommended using two and four genes, respectively. *18S rRNA* and *ACCase* were chosen as the most suitable candidates for plant organs-related studies, whereas, for studies under drought stress, we recommend using *18S rRNA*, β -*TUB*, *25S rRNA* and *ACCase*. When all the conditions were considered together, *18S rRNA* and *ACCase* were identified as the most suitable gene. Validation under herbicide stress indicated that both *18S rRNA* and the combination of *18S rRNA* and *ACCase* could be suitable. *18S rRNA*, a component of the 40S ribosomal small subunit in eukaryotes, has been recognised to have a steady expression in grasses under different stresses in earlier studies^{35,36}. 18S rRNA is a primary constituent of all eukaryotic cells. Hence, *18S rRNA* is known to have extremely high expression in most cell types, so it can be challenging to use it as an endogenous normaliser gene. Moreover, synchronized

	Comparative ∆Ct		BestKeeper		NormFinder		RefFinder	
Rank	Genes	Average of SD	Genes	Std dev [+/- CP]	Gene name	Stability value	Genes	Geomean of ranking values
Life stages (two-leaves stage, three-leaves stage and four-leaves stage)								
1	18S rRNA	0.7	ACCase	0.19	18S rRNA	0.132	18S rRNA	1.73
2	Actin	0.79	eEF	0.47	ACCase	0.134	25S rRNA	2.71
3	25S rRNA	0.8	18S rRNA	0.65	Actin	0.154	Actin	2.99
4	β-tubulin	0.81	Ubiquitin	0.65	eEF	0.166	β-tubulin	3.25
5	ACCase	0.89	Actin	0.86	β-tubulin	0.215	ACCase	3.64
6	GAPDH	0.94	25S rRNA	0.88	25S rRNA	0.224	Ubiquitin	5.63
7	Ubiquitin	0.94	β-tubulin	0.97	Ubiquitin	0.248	eEF	5.66
8	eEF	1.18	GAPDH	0.99	GAPDH	0.275	GAPDH	6.4
Best combination of two genes					18S rRNA and eEF	0.102		
Plant organs (stem and leaf)				•	•		
1	18S rRNA	1.39	18S rRNA	0.76	18S rRNA	0.125	18S rRNA	1
2	25S rRNA	1.48	ACCase	0.83	ACCase	0.146	25S rRNA	1.86
3	Actin	1.67	25S rRNA	0.89	β-tubulin	0.204	Actin	3.46
4	Ubiquitin	1.72	Actin	1.1	Ubiquitin	0.206	ACCase	3.76
5	ACCase	1.79	GAPDH	1.38	25S rRNA	0.214	Ubiquitin	4.36
6	GAPDH	2.02	Ubiquitin	1.51	Actin	0.214	GAPDH	5.73
7	eEF	2.37	eEF	1.81	eEF	0.229	eEF	7
8	β-tubulin	2.89	β-tubulin	3.01	GAPDH	0.323	β-tubulin	8
Best combination of two genes				ACCase and eEF	ise and eEF 0.113			
Drought stress (water-treate	ed vs untreat	ed)						
1	18S rRNA	0.93	ACCase	0.26	eEF	0.191	18S rRNA	1.19
2	β-tubulin	1	18S rRNA	0.54	β-tubulin	0.295	β-tubulin	2
3	25S rRNA	1.05	25S rRNA	0.73	18S rRNA	0.304	25S rRNA	3
4	ACCase	1.21	β -tubulin	0.75	ACCase	0.326 ACCase		3.25
5	Actin	1.24	Actin	0.77	GAPDH	0.349	Actin	5
6	GAPDH	1.27	GAPDH	1.02	25S rRNA	0.406	GAPDH	5.42
7	Ubiquitin	1.35	Ubiquitin	1.17	Actin	0.516	Ubiquitin	6.74
8	eEF	2.3	eEF	1.48	Ubiquitin	0.581	eEF	8
Best combination of two genes					GAPDH and 18S rRNA	0.165		
All samples (plant life stages, plant organs and drought stress)								
1	18S rRNA	1.39	18S rRNA	0.72	18S rRNA	0.175	18S rRNA	1
2	25S rRNA	1.48	ACCase	0.73	ACCase 0.198		25S rRNA	1.86
3	Actin	1.69	25S rRNA	0.8	B-Tubulin	-Tubulin 0.237 A		3.22
4	ACCase	1.75	Actin	1.06	eEF	0.249 ACCase		3.36
5	Ubiquitin	1.97	GAPDH	1.33	25S rRNA	0.257 Ubiquitin		5.48
6	GAPDH	1.97	Ubiquitin	1.68	Actin	0.303	.303 GAPDH 5.48	
7	eEF	2.39	eEF	1.77	Ubiquitin	0.323	eEF	7
8	β-tubulin	2.78	β-tubulin	2.75	GAPDH	0.369	β-tubulin	8
Best combination of two					Ubiquitin and ACCase	0.142		

Table 2. Expression stability of candidate genes analysed by ΔCt , BestKeeper, NormFinder and RefFinder. RefFinder compares the results evaluated by four different programs (comparative ΔCt method, geNorm, BestKeeper and NormFinder) and based on the geomean of ranking values, provides a comprehensive ranking. St. dev.: standard deviation; St. dev [+/- CP]: standard deviation of crossing point (CP) values, eEF: eukaryotic elongation factor, ACCase: Acetyl-CoA carboxylase.

use of multiple reference genes will also decrease the chance of biased normalisations. Finally, from our study results, *18S rRNA* and *ACCase* appeared to be the most suitable reference genes to normalise the qRT-PCR data in *B. sterilis*.

Rapid advances in molecular biology techniques in plant biotechnology have increased the demand for identification of reference genes, which will be more stable than the traditional reference genes. The reference genes identified and validated in our study will assist the studies related to the elucidation of abiotic stress and its regulatory mechanisms. Comparative RNA-seq transcriptome analysis between the control and experimental plants



Figure 2. geNorm ranking of the candidate genes under different tested conditions. (A) Developmental stages, (B) plant organs, (C) Drought stress, and (D) All combined.



Figure 3. Pairwise variation to determine the optimal number of reference genes. The recommended cutoff value under which there is no need for another gene is 0.15.

can be regarded as the most straightforward way to identify the genes involved in abiotic stresses like herbicide stress²⁰. Recent studies on herbicide resistance mechanisms of *B. sterilis* suggest that both TSR and NTSR can be linked with the herbicide resistance in these species^{25,26}. Nevertheless, detailed follow-up studies are essential to delineate further the regulatory mechanisms underlying the observed herbicide resistance mechanism²⁴. However, among the herbicide resistance mechanisms, NTSR mechanisms are considered more complex to elucidate than the TSRs²⁰. Comparative RNA-seq studies between the herbicide-resistant and susceptible plants will facilitate unravelling plausible resistance mechanisms in barren brome. Nevertheless, the RNA-seq data



Figure 4. Relative expression of the acetolactate synthase gene under herbicide stress. Relative gene expression before herbicide treatment (BT) and 24 h after treatment (24 HAT) were compared, and normalization was done with 18S rRNA, 18S rRNA |ACCase and β -tubulin.

should be further cross-checked via qPCR, whose reliability depends on selecting the reference genes. This is the first study to evaluate and validate experiment-condition specific reference genes in brome species to the best of our knowledge. We had identified and validated internal reference gene suitable for normalising qRT-PCR experiments. Thus, our reference genes can be used during any RNA-seq based transcriptome or gene expression studies on *B. sterilis*. Our findings provide a basis for future molecular work on *B. sterilis* and can also be used during gene expression studies in other related species after preliminary validation.

Methods

Plant materials. A single population of B. sterilis, used for this study. B. sterilis was collected from winter wheat fields in the Ústecký region of the Czech Republic (50.2612525 N, 13.4818572 E). Bromus sterilis is an undesirable arable weed, so there are no specific country regulations for manipulation with it. No permissions were necessary to collect plant samples. 25 cm² pots (filled with chernozem soil, clay content 46% (loamy soil), soil pH (KCl) 7.5, sorption capacity of soil: 209 mmol (+), 87 mg kg⁻¹ P, 203 mg kg⁻¹ K, 197 mg kg⁻¹ Mg, 8073 mg kg⁻¹ Ca), were used to plant the seeds. The pots were kept in an open-air vegetation hall (with rooftop). Plant samples from three developmental stages (2-leaves stage, 3-leaves stage and 4-leaves stage), two different plant organs (shoots and leaves) and one abiotic stress (drought stress) were used for this study. For drought stress, watering was interrupted when the plants reach the three to four leaves stage, till symptoms of wilting were observed. Wilted leaves samples were collected and stored at - 80 °C (until further use). For herbicide stress, the plants were treated with pyroxsulam (a group of triazolopyrimidine sulfonamide ALS-inhibiting herbicide) at two to three leaf stage with recommended dose (1.875 g a.i. ha⁻¹). Herbicide was sprayed using a laboratory spray chamber equipped with a Lurmark 015F80 nozzle with a spray volume of 250 L ha⁻¹ and pressure 120 kPa. The leaves samples were collected before treatment and 24 h after treatment and stored at -80° C for RNA extraction. All experiments conducted in this study, including the collection of plant material, are in compliance with relevant institutional, national, and international guidelines and legislation.

RNA extraction, complementary DNA (cDNA) synthesis and primer design. RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) was used to extract RNA from the fresh tissues (\pm 80 mg per sample). TURBO DNA-free (Invitrogen, US) Kit was used to remove gDNA contamination. RNA integrity was verified by running the samples on 1.2% agarose gel electrophoresis. cDNA was synthesised by High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems, USA) from the quality-checked gDNA-free RNA template (1 µg per reaction). Degenerate primers were designed for eight common candidate reference genes (*UBQ, ACT, GAPDH, 18S rRNA, 25S rRNA, ACCase,* β -*TUB* and *eEF*) based on their homologous sequences in other plants species (Table 1). The primers were designed using Primer-BLAST (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/tools/primer-blast/) and Primer3 software (https://bioinfo.ut.ee/primer3-0.4.0/). All the primers were tested by general PCR, performed using a C1000 thermocycler (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), using cDNA template (10 ng per reaction). The thermocycler was programmed at an initial denaturation step at 95 °C for 5 min, followed by 40 cycles of 5 s at 95 °C, 10 s at 57 to 60 °C (based on the annealing temperature of the primer pairs), and 30 s at 72 °C along

with a final extension step for 10 min at 72 °C. The PCR amplified products were verified in the 1.5% agarose gel electrophoresis (data not shown).

gRT-PCR experiment and data analysis. PowerUp SYBR Green Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, USA) was used to conduct gRT-PCR assay in StepOne[™] Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, USA). The reaction mixture contained 5 μ L of SYBR Green Master Mix, 1 μ L of primer mix and 4 μ L of cDNA (2.5 ng μ L⁻¹). For primer efficiency (E) and correlation coefficient (R^2) calculation, gRT-PCR assay was performed with diluted series of cDNA samples. $E = \{10^{(-1/slope)} - 1 * 100\%\}$ was used to calculate the values of E. The thermocycler was programmed at an initial denaturation step at 95 °C for 10 min, followed by 40 cycles of 15 s at 95 °C and 1 min at 57 to 60 °C (based on the annealing temperature of the primer pairs). To obtain the melting curves, stepwise heating was performed from 60 to 95 °C. All qRT-PCR experiments were conducted with 5 biological replicates. Quantification cycle threshold (Ct) values obtained from the StepOne Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, USA) was exported and used for further calculations. Gene expression stabilities of the eight candidate genes in the *B. sterilis* were examined by geNorm, NormFinder and BestKeeper, according to Chen et al.⁸. Besides, comparative ΔCt^{37} and RefFinder⁸ were also used. Before and after herbicide treatment, the relative ALS gene expression was calculated using the 2^{- $\Delta\Delta Ct$} method^{38,39}. NormFinder software estimates the intra- and intergroup variation. These variations are then combined into a stability value. The gene with minimal variation is ranked as the best by the software. geNorm program estimates an expression stability value (M) for each gene. Genes with the lowest M values have the most stable expression. BestKeeper ranks the candidate genes based on standard deviation values of cycle threshold (Ct) or crossing point values (CP) and coefficient of correlation (r) values. A gene with a standard deviation value below 1 and a coefficient of correlation value close to 1 is considered to have more stable gene expression than others. RefFinder integrates the available well-known programs for reference gene screening (geNorm, NormFinder, BestKeeper, and the comparative Delta-Ct method) and calculates the geometric mean of ranking values to give the overall ranking. The genes with a minimal geometric mean of ranking values are categorized as the best³⁷.

Ethical approval. No permissions were necessary to collect plant samples. All experiments conducted in this study, including the collection of plant material, are in compliance with relevant institutional, national, and international guidelines and legislation.

Ethics statement. This article does not contain any studies with human or animal subjects.

Received: 27 January 2021; Accepted: 11 June 2021 Published online: 28 June 2021

References

- 1. Žďárková, V., Hamouzová, K., Holec, J., Janků, J. & Soukup, J. Seed ecology of Bromus sterilis L. Julius-Kühn-Arch. 443, 156–164 (2014).
- Jursík, M., Kolářová, M., Soukup, J. & Žďárková, V. Effects of adjuvants and carriers on propoxycarbazone and pyroxsulam efficacy on Bromus sterilis in winter wheat. Plant Soil Environ. 62, 447–452 (2016).
- Žďárková, V., Hamouzová, K., Kolářová, M. & Soukup, J. Germination responses to water potential in *Bromus sterilis* L. under different temperatures and light regimes. *Plant Soil Environ.* 63, 368–374 (2017).
- Davies, L. R., Hull, R., Moss, S. & Neve, P. The first cases of evolving glyphosate resistance in UK poverty brome (*Bromus sterilis*) populations. Weed Sci. 67, 41–47 (2019).
- 5. Gaines, T. A. et al. Gene amplification confers glyphosate resistance in Amaranthus palmeri. PNAS 107, 1029–1034 (2010).
- Salas, R. A., Scott, R. C., Dayan, F. E. & Burgos, N. R. EPSPS gene amplification in glyphosate-resistant Italian ryegrass (*Lolium perenne ssp. multiflorum*) populations from arkansas (United States). J. Agric. Food Chem. 63, 5885–5893 (2015).
- 7. Gaines, T. A. *et al.* RNA-Seq transcriptome analysis to identify genes involved in metabolism-based diclofop resistance in Lolium rigidum. *Plant J.* **78**, 865–876 (2014).
- 8. Chen, J. et al. Selection of relatively exact reference genes for gene expression studies in goosegrass (*Eleusine indica*) under herbicide stress. Sci. Rep. 7, 46494 (2017).
- 9. Joseph, J. T., Poolakkalody, N. J. & Shah, J. M. Plant reference genes for development and stress response studies. J. Biosci. 43, 173–187 (2018).
- 10. Nolan, T., Hands, R. E. & Bustin, S. A. Quantification of mRNA using real-time RT-PCR. Nat. Protoc. 1, 1559–1582 (2006).
- 11. Ginzinger, D. G. Gene quantification using real-time quantitative PCR: An emerging technology hits the mainstream. *Exp. Hematol.* **30**, 503–512 (2002).
- 12. Huggett, J., Dheda, K., Bustin, S. & Zumla, A. Real-time RT-PCR normalisation; strategies and considerations. *Genes Immun.* 6, 279–284 (2005).
- Guénin, S. et al. Normalisation of qRT-PCR data: The necessity of adopting a systematic, experimental conditions-specific, validation of references. J. Exp. Bot. 60, 487–493 (2009).
- Bustin, S. Quantification of mRNA using real-time reverse transcription PCR (RT-PCR): Trends and problems. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 29, 23–39 (2002).
- 15. Rocha, A. J., Monteiro-Júnior, J. E., Freire, J. E. C., Sousa, A. J. S. & Fonteles, C. S. R. Real time PCR: The use of reference genes and essential rules required to obtain normalisation data reliable to quantitative gene expression. *J. Mol. Biol. Res.* **5**, 45 (2015).
- Chapman, J. R. & Waldenström, J. With reference to reference genes: A systematic review of endogenous controls in gene expression studies. *PLoS ONE* 10, e0141853 (2015).
- Nestorov, J., Matić, G., Elaković, I. & Tanić, N. Gene expression studies: How to obtain accurate and reliable data by quantitative real-time RT PCR/izučavanje ekspresije gena: kako dobiti tačne i pouzdane podatke kvantitativnim rt pcr-om u realnom vremenu. J. Med. Biochem. 32, 325–338 (2013).
- 18. Kozera, B. & Rapacz, M. Reference genes in real-time PCR. J. Appl. Genet. 54, 391-406 (2013).

- Czechowski, T., Stitt, M., Altmann, T., Udvardi, M. K. & Scheible, W.-R. Genome-wide identification and testing of superior reference genes for transcript normalization in arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol.* 139, 5–17 (2005).
- 20. Xu, H. *et al.* Identification of reference genes for studying herbicide resistance mechanisms in Japanese foxtail (*Alopecurus japonicus*). Weed Sci. **65**, 557–566 (2017).
- Hong, S.-Y., Seo, P. J., Yang, M.-S., Xiang, F. & Park, C.-M. Exploring valid reference genes for gene expression studies in Brachypodium distachyon by real-time PCR. *BMC Plant Biol.* 8, 112 (2008).
- 22. Gutierrez, L. *et al.* The lack of a systematic validation of reference genes: A serious pitfall undervalued in reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) analysis in plants. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* **6**, 609–618 (2008).
- Tong, Z., Gao, Z., Wang, F., Zhou, J. & Zhang, Z. Selection of reliable reference genes for gene expression studies in peach using real-time PCR. BMC Mol. Biol. 10, 71 (2009).
- Ramesh, K., Matloob, A., Aslam, F., Florentine, S. K. & Chauhan, B. S. Weeds in a changing climate: Vulnerabilities, consequences, and implications for future weed management. *Front. Plant Sci.* 8, 95 (2017).
- 25. Sen, M. K. et al. Enhanced metabolism and target gene overexpression confer resistance against acetolactate synthase-inhibiting herbicides in Bromus sterilis. Pest Manag. Sci. 77(4), 2122–2128 (2021).
- Davies, L. R., Onkokesung, N., Brazier-Hicks, M., Edwards, R. & Moss, S. Detection and characterisation of resistance to acetolactate synthase inhibiting herbicides in Anisantha and Bromus species in the United Kingdom. *Pest Manag. Sci.* 76, 2473–2482 (2020).
- 27. Anthimidou, E., Ntoanidou, S., Madesis, P. & Eleftherohorinos, I. Mechanisms of *Lolium rigidum* multiple resistance to ALS- and ACCase-inhibiting herbicides and their impact on plant fitness. *Pestic. Biochem. Physiol.* **164**, 65–72 (2020).
- 28. Gaines, T. A. et al. Mechanisms of evolved herbicide resistance. J. Biol. Chem. 295, 10307-10330 (2020).
- 29. Pan, L., Gao, H., Xia, W., Zhang, T. & Dong, L. Establishing a herbicide-metabolising enzyme library in *Beckmannia syzigachne* to identify genes associated with metabolic resistance. *J. Exp. Bot.* **67**, 1745–1757 (2016).
- 30. Jugulam, M. & Shyam, C. Non-target-site resistance to herbicides: Recent developments. *Plants* 8, 417 (2019).
- 31. Akbarabadi, A., Ismaili, A., Kahrizi, D. & Firouzabadi, F. N. Validation of expression stability of reference genes in response to herbicide stress in wild oat (Avena ludoviciana). *Cell Mol. Biol. (Noisy-le-grand)* 64, 113–118 (2018).
- 32. Ruduś, I. & Kępczyński, J. Reference gene selection for molecular studies of dormancy in wild oat (*Avena fatua* L.) caryopses by RT-qPCR method. *PLoS ONE* 13, e0192343 (2018).
- 33. Wrzesińska, B., Kierzek, R. & Obrępalska-Stęplowska, A. Evaluation of six commonly used reference genes for gene expression studies in herbicide-resistant Avena fatua biotypes. Weed Res. 56, 284–292 (2016).
- 34. Xu, X. et al. Selection of relatively exact reference genes for gene expression studies in flixweed (*Descurainia sophia*) by quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction. *Pestic. Biochem. Physiol.* **127**, 59–66 (2016).
- Jain, M., Nijhawan, A., Tyagi, A. K. & Khurana, J. P. Validation of housekeeping genes as internal control for studying gene expression in rice by quantitative real-time PCR. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 345, 646–651 (2006).
- 36. Petit, C., Pernin, F., Heydel, J.-M. & Délye, C. Validation of a set of reference genes to study response to herbicide stress in grasses. BMC Res. Notes 5, 18 (2012).
- 37. Liu, J. et al. Selection and evaluation of potential reference genes for gene expression analysis in Avena fatua Linn. Plant Protect. Sci. 55, 61–71 (2018).
- Roy, A. & Palli, S. R. Epigenetic modifications acetylation and deacetylation play important roles in juvenile hormone action. BMC Genomics 19, 934 (2018).
- Livak, K. J. & Schmittgen, T. D. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2–ΔΔCT method. Methods 25, 402–408 (2001).

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge Dr. Todd Gaines (Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO, USA), Mr. Ram Kumar (Department of Crop Protection, Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Czech Republic) and Mr. Jakub Mikulka (Department of Agroecology and Crop Production, Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, Czech Republic) for consultations and technical assistance.

Author contributions

M.K.S., K.H. and A.R. planned the experiments. P.K. had collected the samples. M.K.S. conducted the experiments. M.K.S., K.H. and A.R. performed the bioinformatics and statistical analysis. M.K.S., K.H., A.R. and J.S. analysed the results. M.K.S. and A.R. wrote the initial draft of the manuscript. M.K.S., K.H., A.R., P.K. and J.S. prepared the final manuscript. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Fundings

This work was financially supported by the National Agency for Agricultural Research project (QK1820081). In addition, infrastructural support for molecular biology work is obtained from grant EVA 4.0", No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0 /0.0/16_019/0000803 financed by OP RDE, and the salary for A.R. is from 'EXTEMIT - K,' No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/ 0.0/15_003/0000433 financed by OP RDE.

Competing interests

The authors declare no competing interests.

Additional information

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-92780-1.

Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to J.S.

Reprints and permissions information is available at www.nature.com/reprints.

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

© The Author(s) 2021

DOI: 10.1111/wre.12500

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



WILEY

Apera spica-venti in the Czech Republic develops resistance to three herbicide modes of action

Pavlína Košnarová¹ D | Pavel Hamouz¹ D | Kateřina Hamouzová¹ D | Alexander Linn² D | Madhab K. Sen¹ D | Jakub Mikulka¹ D | Jaromír Šuk¹ D | Josef Soukup¹ D

¹Department of Agroecology and Crop Production, Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources, Czech University of Life Sciences, Prague, Czech Republic

²Department of Weed Science, Institute of Phytomedicine, University of Hohenheim, Stuttgart, Germany

Correspondence

Kateřina Hamouzová, Department of Agroecology and Crop Production, Faculty of Agrobiology, Food and Natural Resources, Czech University of Life Sciences Prague, 16500, Czech Republic. Email: hamouzova@af.czu.cz

Funding information

Bundesamt für Landwirtschaft; Bundesministerium für Ernährung und Landwirtschaft; Ministerstvo Zemědělství

Subject Editor: Henri Darmency INRAE, Dijon, France

Abstract

Investigation of molecular mechanisms of herbicide resistance to three modes of action was carried out in a population of Apera spica-venti with resistance to herbicides inhibiting acetolactate synthase (ALS), acetyl-CoA-carboxylase (ACCase) and inhibitors of photosystem-II (PSII). Greenhouse experiments were conducted to detect and characterize resistance pattern to pyroxsulam (ALS inhibitor), pinoxaden (ACCase) and chlorotoluron (PSII) using the recommended rate of each herbicide alone and in tank-mix, sequential application and dose-response tests. Metabolic detoxification and/or reduced herbicide uptake and translocation studies were conducted using dose-response tests with the herbicides in combination with malathion. After treatment, leaves from surviving plants were collected for pyrosequencing to identify target-site mutations in specific regions of ALS, ACCase and psbA genes. Among 32 analysed plants, target-site mutations in specific regions were detected for ALS and ACCase gene, but no psbA mutations were found. Dose-response assay showed high resistance factors for pyroxsulam (RF = 269.4), pinoxaden (RF = 66.3), but lower for chlorotoluron (RF = 14.3). Testing for metabolic detoxification by pre-treatment with malathion resulted in an increased susceptibility to pinoxaden in all doses, some increased susceptibility to chlorotoluron at the highest doses and no difference for pyroxsulam. Our results indicate that while target-site mutations were present for ALS and ACCase sites of action, metabolic detoxification does play a role for pinoxaden resistance. This research provided key insights into the resistance mechanisms in Apera spica-venti and will be important for developing control strategies for this weed in the Czech Republic.

KEYWORDS

chlorophyll fluorescence, dose-response test, herbicide resistance, loose silky bent grass, malathion

1 | INTRODUCTION

Loose silky bent grass (*Apera spica-venti* (L.) P. Beauv) is a winter outcrossing annual grass, widespread in the Central and East European countries, mainly, in Germany, Poland and the Czech Republic (Soukup et al., 2006). Although, it is also found in North European countries, such as Denmark, Sweden and Lithuania (e.g. Auškalniené et al., 2020). It can be controlled with numerous herbicides, including ureas, dinitroanilines and thiocarbamates. The first case of resistance to ureas was found in Germany in 1996 (Niemann, 2000). Lately,

the sulfonylureas and triazolopyrimidines, two of the six chemical families collectively known as acetolactate synthase (ALS or AHAS) inhibitors, have become the most frequently used herbicides to control this grass in cereals. Shortly after the introduction of ALS inhibitors, the herbicide resistance in Apera spread rapidly (Nováková et al., 2006). After populations were confirmed to have high frequency of resistance to ALS inhibitors, many farmers began to use ACCase inhibitors and different herbicide combinations with often unpredictable results. Without an understanding of the resistance mechanism in a population, herbicide substitution may not improve control and instead increase the selection pressure on a resistant population (Petersen, 2018). As such, resistance to ACCase inhibitors was identified soon after their increased use (Adamczewski et al., 2016; Wolber, 2014). According to Heap (2021), resistance to ALS inhibitors in A. spica-venti is currently reported in ten European countries, including Czech Republic. Multiple resistance to ALS and PSII inhibitors has evolved in Austria and Denmark. Multiple resistance to ALS and ACCase inhibitors is present in Denmark, Poland and Germany. Resistance to three modes of action (MOA) namely ACCase, ALS and PSII inhibitors, was described in Germany.

None of these studies investigated the possible accumulation of resistance mechanisms in an individual A. spica-venti plant, as has been observed in other grasses, e.g. Alopecurus aequalis Sobol (Xia et al., 2015) and Alopecurus myosuroides Huds. (Marshall et al., 2013). Regarding resistance to ALS inhibitors, previous studies have shown varying, but very high levels of resistance to chlorsulfuron, sulfosulfuron and iodosulfuron, and cross-resistance to all three herbicides was confirmed in all populations tested (Hamouzová et al., 2011, 2014). The target-site resistance to sulfonylureas was attributed to four resistance-conferring ALS mutations: Pro-197-Ala, Pro-197-Thr, Trp-574-Leu and a novel Trp-574-Met substitution. Massa et al. (2011) detected the presence of additional Trp-574-Leu and Pro-197-Asn mutations in populations from Germany. Other German populations carried the IIe-1781-Leu and IIe-2041-Asn ACCase gene mutations (Wolber, 2014). The non-target-site mechanisms of herbicide resistance in A. spica-venti have not been described in detail until now, but there is suspicion of enhanced metabolism by the cytochrome P450s family and an involvement of glycosyltransferase and glutathion-S-transferase enzymes (Babineau et al., 2017). Our previous studies support this hypothesis - resistance to chlorsulfuron decreased when an organophosphate insecticide malathion was included, well known as inhibitor cytochrome P-450 (CYP450)mediated metabolism of a sulfonylurea herbicide (Hamouzová et al., 2014).

The objectives of this study were (a) to evaluate the resistance profile in a new population of A. spica-venti for resistance to three modes of action of herbicides -qALS inhibitors (pyroxsulam), ACCase inhibitors (pinoxaden) and PSII inhibitors (chlorotoluron); (b) to clarify possible mechanisms of resistance to these three herbicide modes of action; (c) to assess the suitability and reliability of the method based on measurement of chlorophyll fluorescence for detection of herbicide resistance to the above-mentioned modes of action in A. spica-venti.

WEED RESEARCH

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 | Plant material

Seeds of an A. spica-venti population (from here after called LMC population) were collected in 2016 from a winter wheat field in South Bohemia, Czech Republic (49.0915833N, 14.7343022E) where the farmer had reported repeated control failures after the use of ALS, ACCase, and PSII inhibiting herbicides. In order to obtain a representative sample of the resistance population, seeds were collected from at least 100 plants in the field and combined to form a composite sample.

The standard susceptible reference population (S) was obtained from an integrated farm in South-eastern part of the Czech Republic (49.4105178N, 15.0198383E). Seeds from this population are used as a standard for most resistance studies in our laboratory.

2.2 | Effect of registered rates and selection of resistant individuals

This basic study was conducted to compare an effect of field rates of individual herbicides and their combinations on LMC population, and to select resistant individuals after different types of selection pressure for further molecular studies.

The experiment was conducted in a greenhouse where temperature and day length were controlled (16 hr light at 20°C and 8 hr dark at 16°C). Apera spica-venti seeds were sown in 8×8 cm plastic pots, containing chernozem soil (clay content 46% (loamy soil), soil pH (KCI) 7.5, sorption capacity of soil: 209 mmol (+), 87 ppm P, 203 ppm K, 197 ppm Mg, 8,073 ppm Ca). Emerged seedlings were thinned to ten plants per pot. Seedlings were regularly watered and fertilized. Herbicides pyroxsulam (Corello, 74 g a.i. (active ingredient)/kg, WG, ALS inhibitor, Dow AgroScience s.r.o., Prague, Czech Republic), pinoxaden (Axial Plus, 50 g a.i./l, OD, ACCase inhibitor, Syngenta Czech s.r.o., Prague, Czech Republic) and chlorotoluron (Lentipur 500 FW, 500 g a. i./l, SC, PSII inhibitor, FMC Agro Czech Republic s.r.o., Prague, Czech Republic) were used in the experiment. For the pyroxsulam treatment, the recommended adjuvant alkylphenol alkoxylate (Šaman 990 g a.i./L, Dow AgroScience s.r.o.) was added, at the dose of 990 g a.i. ha^{-1} . The herbicides pyroxsulam, pinoxaden and chlorotoluron were applied at 2-3 leaf stage (BBCH 12-13) with field recommended doses (Table 1). A laboratory spray chamber, equipped with a Lurmark 01F80 nozzle was calibrated to the spray volume of 250 L ha⁻¹ at a spraying pressure of 250 kPa. Plants treated with water served as an untreated control. The experiment was not replicated in time.

Four replicates of the herbicide treatments were applied, as described in Table 1, for evaluation of resistance compared to the control and to select surviving plants for molecular studies. Threeway resistant individuals were selected for in two treatments, representing different approaches: tank-mix application and sequential application of all three herbicides. The sequential application of

Treatment	Active ingredient	Recommended rate (g a.i. ha ⁻¹)	Samples tested (number of leaves)
1	Untreated control	_	0
2	Pyroxsulam	10	8
3	Pinoxaden	45	8
4	Chlorotoluron	1,000	8
5	Tank-mix (pyroxsulam + pinoxaden + chlorotoluron)	10 + 45 + 1,000	8
6	Sequence (pyroxsulam – pinoxaden – chlorotoluron)	10 - 45 - 1,000	0

TABLE 1 Herbicide dosage used for single dose treatment, tank-mix and sequence application together with specified numbers of *A. spica-venti* leaf samples collected from individual treatments for the partial *ALS*, *ACCase* and *psbA* gene sequencing

herbicides on the population was carried out at 7-day intervals in the order: pyroxsulam-pinoxaden-chlorotoluron. Plant injury was visually estimated 28 days after herbicide treatment by comparing the biomass reduction based on dry weight and visual phytotoxicity symptoms of the treated plants vs the untreated control. Herbicide efficacy was visually estimated and expressed as percentage scores, where 0 corresponded to no damage and 100% to dead plants. Numbers of surviving plants were also recorded for individual pots.

2.3 | Dose-response assays

A dose-response experiment was conducted to estimate 50% growth reduction (GR50), resistance factors (RF), and an exclusion of metabolic resistance. For the latter purpose, malathion, an inhibitor of CYP450, was added to indicate cytochrome P450 (CYP450) involvement in metabolic resistance of herbicides (ALS inhibitors and other groups). Dose-response test was conducted in a greenhouse, between May and June 2018, in a completely randomised design with four replicates. The preparation of pots and assessments were identical as described in the previous section. The herbicide application was performed at 2-3 leaf stage (BBCH 12-13) of A. spica-venti plants with pyroxsulam (0; 0.0316; 0.1; 0.316; 1; 3.16; 10; 31.6; 100; 316 g a.i. ha⁻¹), pinoxaden (0; 0.1422; 0.45; 1.422; 4.5; 14.22; 45; 142.2; 450; 1,422 g a.i. ha⁻¹) and chlorotoluron (0; 3.16; 10; 31.6; 100; 316; 1,000; 3,160; 10,000; 31,600 g a.i. ha⁻¹), respectively. The herbicide treatments were performed one hour after treatment with malathion ([(dimethoxyphosphinothioyl)-thio] butanedioic acid diethyl ester, Supelco, USA). Malathion was applied at the rate of 1,000 g a.i. ha⁻¹, using a solution containing 0.005 g of malathion per ml in a carrier of isopropyl alcohol (78%), terpineol, dipentene and pine needle oil. The experiment was repeated twice to verify the data. Since no statistical differences were observed among replication, the most recent experiment is presented in this paper.

2.4 | Partial ALS, ACCase and psbA gene sequencing

Eight plants per treatment (32 in total) were selected among those that survived the treatments 1–4 according to Table 1 and were delivered to IDENTXX GmbH company (Stuttgart, Germany), which conducted the single nucleotide polymorphism analysis by pyrosequencing. Amino acid substitutions in Pro-197, Trp-574 of the *ALS* gene (the numbers are according to *Arabidopsis thaliana*), Ile-1781, Trp-2027, Ile-2041, Asp-2078 and Gly-2096 in the *ACCase* gene (the numbering according to *A. myosuroides*) and Val-219, Thr-220, Ala-251, Phe-255, Gly-256, Ser-264, Asn-266 and Leu-275 in the D1 protein of photosystem II (the numbers are according to *Amaranthus sp.*) were investigated. The pyrosequencing reactions were carried out according to the manufacturer's instructions using PyroMark Q24 (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), specific sequence-primers and the PyroMark Q24 Gold Q24 Reagents (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) in a similar manner as Löbmann et al. (2021). Details of reactions and primers are covered by trade secret (IDENTXX GmbH company). Subsequently, the genotypes were analysed using the supplied SNP Software (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany).

2.5 | Chlorophyll fluorescence measurement

The chlorophyll fluorescence of A. spica-venti plants was measured at days 1-7, 9 and 14 after the herbicide treatment. Untreated control plants and plants treated with recommended herbicide doses of chlorotoluron, pinoxaden and pyroxsulam were examined. All five plants in one pot were measured together representing one replicate. Six replicates per treatment were examined. Prior to measurement, the plants were dark-adapted for 20 min. The ground fluorescence (F_{n}) and the maximum fluorescence (F_{m}) were assessed with a pulse amplitude modulating imaging fluorometer (IMAGING-PAM MAXI, Heinz Walz GmbH, Effeltrich, Germany). In the case of open PSII centres of dark-adapted plants, the alternating fluorescence signal is referred to as minimal fluorescence Fo and is excited by the measuring light. When a strong light pulse is applied, photosynthesis is saturated and all the reactions centres close. In this state, the alternating fluorescence signal appears to be strongly increased and achieves its maximal level, F_m . The chlorophyll fluorescence ratio F_v/F_m , indicating the maximum quantum yield of photosystem II, was measured according to the manufacturer's recommendation and calculated (Equation 1).

$$\frac{F_{\rm v}}{F_{\rm m}} = \frac{F_{\rm m} - F_{\rm o}}{F_{\rm m}} \tag{1}$$

For F_v/F_m determination, a saturation pulse of 2000 μ M s⁻¹ m⁻² of photosynthetic photon flux density was used at a wavelength of 450 nm.

2.6 | Statistical data analysis

R 2.8.0 software (R Development Core Team) was utilised to analyse the data from the dose-response assay, by non-linear regression (Baty et al., 2015). Dose-response curves were fitted to observed data. The three-parameter log-logistic function where the lower limit is equal to 0 was found to be the 'best-fit' distribution for our data.

$$f(x) = \frac{d}{1 + \exp(b)(\log(x) - e)},$$
(2)

where *d* corresponds to the upper limit, *b* is the slope of the curve and *e* is the inflection point of the curve. The heterogeneity adjustment was performed through a Box-Cox transformation. The quality of each set of dose-response models was compared with an analysis of variance by a lack-of-fit *F*-test. The herbicide doses that caused 50% shoot growth inhibition (GR50) were computed for each herbicide and population. Resistance factor (RF) ratios were calculated by dividing GR50 of the LMC population by the GR50 of the susceptible (S) population. The comParm function (package drc) was used to compare parameter estimates of respective herbicide treatment with and without malathion (p < 0.05). For fluorescence measurements, the differences in the F_v/F_m values among treatments were analysed on a daily basis by ANOVA and Tukey's HSD test (p < 0.05).

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Effect of registered rates and selection of resistant individuals

The tested herbicides did not have a significant effect on the growth of the LMC population, and the results confirmed a high level of resistance to all three active ingredients. The average efficacies after the single applications of pyroxsulam, pinoxaden and chlorotoluron in this population, reached 22.5%, 20% and 10% respectively. The S population was controlled by all tested herbicides in all experiments with efficacies ranging from 95% to 100% compared to the untreated control. Substantial differences were observed in sensitivity between individual plants and there were varying levels of resistance according to the production of above-ground biomass and phytotoxicity symptoms, especially after the application of pyroxsulam (data not shown). The highest rate of survival was found after the chlorotoluron application. No significant differences were found between the efficacy of tank-mix and the sequential application of these three active ingredients. On average, 30% of the plants survived the tank-mix application, resulting in 45% efficacy, and 28% of -WILEY

the plants survived the application of sequential application, which resulted in 50% efficacy. There were no statistically significant differences between single dose and tank-mix efficacy nor between single dose and sequential application.

3.2 | Dose-response assays

3.2.1 | Pyroxsulam

The whole-plant response experiments proved that the LMC population has evolved a high-level of resistance to pyroxsulam. The GR50 value reached 433.8 g a.i. ha⁻¹ for this population while the dose 1.6 g a.i. ha⁻¹ was needed to achieve a 50% growth reduction in the reference one. This resulted in RF of 269.4. The GR50 value showed minor reduction for both, R and S populations, when pyroxsulam was applied after the pre-treatment by 1,000 g ha⁻¹ of malathion (Figure 1). The differences were, however, non-significant (p> 0.05). The values of GR50 for both populations, as well as the RFs are summarised in Table 2.

3.2.2 | Pinoxaden

The dose-response test also demonstrated that the LMC population had evolved resistance to pinoxaden. Our results showed relatively a high RF value (66.3) for this active ingredient when applied alone. After the malathion pre-treatment, the GR50 for pinoxaden decreased 18-fold to 11.36 g a.i ha⁻¹ for LMC population and remained higher than the reference population (3.52 g a.i. ha⁻¹).

3.2.3 | Chlorotoluron

The dose-response analysis indicates that the GR50 values for the resistant plants were markedly higher than for the susceptible, although the resistance factor was lower (RF = 14.3) compared to pyroxsulam and pinoxaden. There was no difference between the GR50 values of LMC population treated with chlorotoluron alone and pre-treated with malathion (Table 2). The inhibiting effect of malathion pre-treatment occurred at the highest dose of 31,600 g a.i. ha⁻¹ chlorotoluron (p = 0.028) (Figure 1).

3.3 | Partial ALS, ACCase and psbA gene sequencing

In total, pyrosequencing analysis discovered 14 plants with one of three mutations in 32 analysed plants. No individuals displayed more than one of the tested gene mutations. The highest occurrence of point mutations were associated with the *ALS* gene. Some plants are heterozygote with one wild allele and the other showing one of the expected mutations (e. g. CCC/ACC, CCC/TCC), while others are homozygous (e. g. ACC).



FIGURE 1 The total dry weight of the above-ground biomass after the application of pyroxsulam, pinoxaden and chlorotoluron with or without the addition of malathion at the dose 1,000 g/ha in the LMC (R) and the reference (S) population of *A. spica-venti*

TABLE 2 Calculated GR50 (g a.i. ha⁻¹) and RF values from dose-response assay with or without malathion pre-treatment, for the LMC and the reference populations.

	Pacammandad rata	LMC populatio	n	Susceptible standard		
Treatment	(g a.i. ha ⁻¹)	GR50	СІ	GR50 CI		RF
Pyroxsulam	10	433.86ª	298.27-569.45	1.61 ^a	1.03-2.18	269.4
Pyroxsulam + malathion	10 + 1,000	322.93ª	229.87-415.99	1.08 ^a	0.83-1.34	299.01
Pinoxaden	45	204.74ª	119.29-258.22	3.09 ^a	1.54-4.63	66.26
Pinoxaden +malathion	45 + 1,000	11.36 ^b	9.69-17.21	3.52 ^a	4.44-5.12	3.23
Chlorotoluron	1,000	2,999.57 ^a	2,289.55-4,741.31	209.53 ^ª	231.37- 276.02	14.32
Chlorotoluron + malathion	1,000 + 1,000	3,923.14 ^a	3,096.57-5,318.77	170.878ª	171.78- 228.81	22.96

Note: The letters indicate homogeneous groups at 5% significance level.

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval (95%); GR50, growth reduction; RF, resistance factor.

Both, heterozygotic mutations (C/A-CC and C/T-CC) and homozygotic mutations (ACC--threonine) were detected for Pro-197 site and only heterozygotic mutations (T-G/T-G) were identified for Trp-574 site. More plants were associated with heterozygotic mutations at Pro-197 compared to homozygotes and among them, C/A-CC mutation type was more common than C/T-CC type. One case of a single heterozygotic mutation (A/T-TA) at IIe-1781 was found from the plants surviving the tank-mix doses. No single nucleotide mutations were detected to be responsible for the resistance to PS-II-inhibiting herbicides.

The distribution of mutations among herbicide treatments were relatively balanced and no apparent selection of relevant target-site mutations were observed for individual herbicides. The frequency of mutations after individual treatments is shown in Table 3.

3.4 | Chlorophyll fluorescence measurement

The untreated control plants of both populations, showed F_v/F_m , values ranging between 0.67 and 0.74, depending on the assessment day. Since these values were not significantly different, the data were pooled. In the reference population, F_v/F_m values of pyroxsulam- and pinoxaden-treated plants were different than the untreated control as early as 3 days after treatment (DAT), with the reduction in 19% and 21% respectively (Figure 2). From 4 DAT

TABLE 3 Amino-acid substitutions related to the genes of interest in 32 individual plants from the LMC population

No. of		Pro-197		Trp-574		lle-1781	
Treatment	plants	Codon	Number of plants	Codon	Number of plants	Codon	Number of plants
Tank-mix	8	C/ A-CC	2	_	_	A/T-TA	1
		ACC	1				
Pyroxsulam	8	C/A-CC	2	T-G/T-G	1	_	_
		ACC	1				
Pinoxaden	8	C/A-CC	2	T-G/T-G	1	_	_
		C/T-CC	1				
Chlorotoluron	8	ACC	1	T-G/T-G	1	_	_

Note: CCC-proline, ACC-threonine, TCC-serine, TGG-tryptophan, TTG-leucine, TTA-leucine, ATA-isoleucine.

FIGURE 2 Trends in maximum quantum efficiency of PSII (F_v/F_m) in *A. spica-venti* untreated control plants from the LMC and reference populations (data pooled) and those treated with the recommended dose of chlorotoluron, pyroxsulam and pinoxaden, 1–14 days after treatment. The vertical bars represent standard errors



onwards, the F_v/F_m values for the reference population plants decreased by 40%-70%, compared to the untreated control, for both herbicide treatments. These differences were statistically significant and indicated a strong stress due to the herbicides in the reference population plants. On the other hand, the F_v/F_m value of the pyroxsulam-treated LMC population decreased only by 4% and 20% at 3 and 7 DAT, respectively, compared to the untreated control. The decrease in F_v/F_m values for the pinoxaden-treated LMC population was even lower than for pyroxsulam, throughout the assessment period, and exceeded a 10% decrease only at 4 DAT. There were no differences in $F_{\rm u}/F_{\rm m}$ between treated and untreated control plants of the LMC population for both pyroxsulam and pinoxaden; however, a differentiation between resistant and susceptible treated plants was possible for both herbicides. For pinoxaden, F_v/F_m values differed by 5 DAT until the end of the experiment. In the case of pyroxsulam, there were differences at 4 DAT, but not at 5 DAT, and then from 6 DAT until the end of the experiment.

With regard to chlorotoluron, which inhibits the electron transport in PS II, a fast decrease in the F_v/F_m value was expected in both S and R plants. Indeed, only 1 DAT with chlorotoluron, the F_v/F_m value of the reference population plants decreased to 0.25, which corresponds to a decrease in 66% compared to the untreated control. In addition, the decrease of F_v/F_m value of S standard continued until 5 DAT followed by a period of stagnation, or non-significant recovery. The F_v/F_m value of the treated LMC population plants was only decreased to 0.40 at 1 DAT and

was relatively constant in the following measurements. There were differences in F_v/F_m values between the herbicide-treated plants of the two populations for all measurements, starting at 1 DAT, where F_v/F_m values of the LMC population plants remained higher than for the reference population plants, indicating they were less affected by chlorotoluron.

4 | DISCUSSION

Herbicide resistance in the LMC population evolved during a long period of farming under the selection pressure of different herbicides, especially the ALS inhibitors. Although PSII and ACCase inhibiting herbicides were previously efficacious for the LMC population after it had developed ALS resistance (Hamouzová et al., 2011), herbicide failures were observed in the last 8 years. The present study demonstrated that ALS, PSII and ACCase inhibitors currently have very low efficacy of 10%-22.5%, compared to the reference population, which is still fully controlled by these herbicides. Along with the active ingredients mentioned above, flumioxazin and flufenacet have been tested in a separate pot experiment. Their efficacy was high (>90%) and, thus, can be recommended to the farmer.

The survivors in this study showed varying levels of resistance, especially after the application of pyroxsulam. Tank-mixing of herbicides is recommended as the best strategy for delaying resistance by decreasing survival probabilities of all individuals (Evans et al.,

WILEY

2016), but in this case, a high proportion of the population already contained multiple-resistant individuals. No differences were found in efficacy between the tank-mix and sequential application when all three herbicides, with different modes of action, were applied on the population. However, both tank-mix and sequential application resulted in fewer survivors compared to the application of single herbicides.

The background of the resistance in the tested LMC population seems to be different for each mode of action. In the case of the pyroxsulam, mutations known to confer resistance to ALS inhibitors were found at Pro-197 and Trp-574 in three out of eight plants analysed. On the other hand, malathion pre-treatment did not confirm any significant involvement of CYP450 mono-oxygenases in the metabolic detoxification of this herbicide, even though the synergistic effect of malathion with pyroxsulam had been reported in other studies (e.g. Feng et al., 2016). Therefore, decreased sensitivity of the target enzyme appeared to be the main mechanism of resistance present in the LMC population, which is supported by a high resistance factor (269.4). The resistance effect of the above-mentioned mutations had been reported in other grass weeds. Kaloumenos et al. (2013) showed that the Trp-574-Leu mutation in the ALS gene of Echinochloa oryzicola Vasing. conferred cross-resistance to several ALS inhibiting herbicide families, including triazolopyrimidines. Guo et al. (2015) confirmed that pyroxsulam resistance in a population of A. aequalis was very likely endowed by the Trp-574-Leu mutation. In the same species, the substitution Trp-574-Leu conferred broadspectrum resistance to all ALS herbicides, while the substitution of Pro-197-Thr conferred high resistance to sulfonylureas and moderate resistance to triazolopyrimidines (Stankiewicz-Kosyl et al., 2017; Xia et al., 2015). In addition, although only heterozygous mutations were found for the Trp-574 site, their participation in herbicide resistance expression remains important. Therefore, both mentioned mutations seem to be responsible for resistance to pyroxsulam in the tested LMC population. As the percentage of surviving plants at the recommended rate of pyroxsulam is higher (90%) than the percentage of plants carrying relevant target-site mutations (37%), other resistance mechanisms are likely to be present in the tested LMC population. Specific P450 enzymes that are not inhibited by malathion, or other types of detoxification enzymes such as glutathione transferases (GSTs) may be involved in pyroxsulam resistance in A. spica-venti. Fang et al. (2019) described involvement of both P450 and GSTs in Echinochloa crus-galli resistance to another triazolopyrimidine herbicide, penoxsulam. Cummins et al. (2013) reported enhanced expression of glutathione s-transferases (GSTs) as an important mechanism of herbicide resistance to multiple herbicides in grasses.

The results discussed previously are consistent with the fluorescence measurement. The lack of difference between the F_v/F_m values and the untreated control throughout the measurement period, together with the relatively high standard errors of the measurements indicate that some plants were relatively unaffected by the pyroxsulam treatment. This supports the finding that target site resistant plants are also present in the LMC population. For pinoxaden, both target-site and non-target-site mechanisms of resistance seem to be present in the LMC population. Ile-1781-Leu single heterozygotic mutation was confirmed by sequencing of the ACCase gene, although its frequency in the population was low (~3%). This mutation has been shown to confer resistance to pinoxaden in other grass species, such as Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler and Phalaris minor L. (Basak et al., 2020). Similarly, the Ile-1781-Leu mutation in Lolium rigidum Gaud. plants endowed cross-resistance to pinoxaden, clodinafop, haloxyfop, sethoxydim and clethodim (Scarabel et al., 2011).

The effect of the heterozygotic mutation on resistance expression can be variable. In the dominant mode of resistance, the gene is expressed irrespective of its zygosity, whereas in the co-dominance mode, the level of resistance in the heterozygous plants is intermediate between the homozygous genotypes (Tal and Rubin, 2004). As no clear difference in sensitivity to pinoxaden was revealed between heterozygous and homozygous *Lolium* spp. plants with the lle-1781-Leu mutation (Scarabel et al., 2011), a similar dominance mode could be suggested for *A. spica-venti*.

Irrespective to the zygosity effect, the proportion of plants in the population LMC carrying the Ile-1781-Leu mutation is small (~3%) and cannot be the only reason for the high-level of resistance observed in this population. A substantial decrease in GR50 value found in the malathion pre-treated plants indicates that metabolism plays an important role in their resistance to pinoxaden. For the S standard, malathion had no significant effect on herbicide efficacy. It has been found that malathion can reduce detoxification of herbicides in plants by inhibiting CYP450 and, thus, reverse the metabolism-based resistance (Beckie et al., 2012). They reported an increase in the efficacy of pinoxaden and flucarbazone after malathion pre-treatment in five Canadian Avena fatua L. populations with resistance to ACCase and ALS inhibitor. Involvement of CYP450 in the detoxification of pinoxaden was also confirmed by malathion pre-treatment in a non-target-site resistant population of Brachypodium sp. (Matzrafi et al., 2014).

Based on these results, the increased activity of P450 monooxygenases seems to be the predominant mechanism of resistance to pinoxaden in the tested LMC population. The fluorescence measurement also supports the evidence of an enhanced pinoxaden detoxification ability in this population. Non-significant decrease of F_v/F_m values is only traceable in data (Figure 2) during the first four days after treatment followed by a recovery to original values.

For chlorotoluron, the resistance mechanisms in the LMC population were not fully understood. The fact that no common mutations were found in the *psbA* gene combined with a relatively low resistance factor (14.3) indicates the non-target-site nature of the resistance. The resistance factors in other chlorotoluron non-targetsite resistant grass weeds varied between 2.6 and 29.3 (Menéndez et al., 2006). No significant effect of malathion on GR50 of the chlorotoluron was confirmed in our assay. Nonetheless, the synergistic effect of malathion was significant at the highest dose of chlorotoluron. The reason for this could be partially explained by the relatively low synergism of malathion and chlorotoluron, which has been reported e.g. by Preston et al. (1996), though other causes could also be possible. It is worth to mention that a high variability in the sensitivity of individual plants to chlorotoluron was traceable in the dose-response assay and the calculated resistance factor should be considered as a mean of the population. Most of the resistant individuals were not able to survive doses above 3,160 g a.i. ha⁻¹; however, some plants survived the highest applied dose (31,600 g a.i. ha^{-1}) and their resistance factor can be expected to be much higher. High variability in this population can be attributed to the biology of the species and conditions of the field; namely, while the species is self-incompatible and relies on wind pollination, it is geographically isolated from other populations. Chlorotoluron was the last effective herbicide used to control Apera spica-venti in this field, and perhaps at the beginning of selection pressure on this population. While the situation may have suggested target-site resistance, the effect of the malathion pre-treatment on the exhibited resistance in the population should preclude such a simplistic answer. Based on above-mentioned reasons, it seems that several pathways of herbicide detoxification or even other mechanisms may be involved in non-target-site resistance of the LMC population plants. Metabolic detoxification of chlorotoluron via P450 oxygenases was confirmed in resistant plants of A. myosuroides decades ago (Menéndez et al., 1994). More recently, Cummins et al. (2013) demonstrated an important role of GSTs in A. myosuroides and Lolium multiflorum populations exhibiting multiple resistance to many herbicides including chlorotoluron and suggested similar functions in other grass weeds.

The fluorescence measurements support the assumption of the non-target-site resistance to chlorotoluron. Any substantial changes in the affinity of chlorotoluron to the target D1 protein are unlikely since the F_{v}/F_{m} values of all measured plants were quickly decreased by the chlorotoluron treatment. The data of our study show that plants of LMC population were less affected by chlorotoluron than reference population plants 1 DAT, indicating a fast detoxification of the active ingredient. Similar response of the F_v/F_m parameter was observed for Zhang et al. (2016) in Echinochloa colona plants with non-target-site resistance to the PS II inhibitor after treatment with propanil. Surprisingly, the decrease of F_v/F_m in the LMC population was not followed by recovery. High standard error of F_{u}/F_{m} values observed at 14 DAT could, however, signal some recovery of individual plants at the end of the measurement period. The measurement of the maximum quantum efficiency of PS II proved to be a suitable method for fast detection of resistance. As the chlorotoluron inhibits the electron transport in PS II, a fast decrease of the F_v/F_m allowed reliable discrimination of resistant plants as early as 1 DAT. Similar results have been reported by Wang et al. (2018). Comparatively, the other herbicides tested in this study needed more time to identify resistant plants using the fluorescence parameter; five and six days were required for reliable discrimination between resistant and susceptible plants for pinoxaden and pyroxsulam respectively. A shorter discrimination period could be expected if individual plants had been assessed. Wang et al. (2018) found significantly higher $F_{\rm v}/F_{\rm m}$ values in resistant biotype of A. myosuroides than in the susceptible biotype at 3 days after treatment with ACCase, ALS and PSII

inhibiting herbicides. Likewise, Linn et al. (2019) successfully used the F_v/F_m parameter for the detection of herbicide resistant plants of *Stellaria media* L. Vill and *Papaver rhoeas* L. after ALS-inhibiting herbicide treatment. The discrimination between susceptible and resistant plants was possible 3 DAT (three days after the treatment). Averaging the F_v/F_m values of all plants present in the replicate may decrease statistical significance and prevent or delay achieving significant results if the ratio of resistant plants in the population is small. In this study, the F_v/F_m values were measured as a mean of five plants growing in each pot as the plants were inseparable in many cases. Although more time-consuming, measurement of individual plants as described, for example, by Wang et al. (2018) should be recommended in field conditions.

5 | CONCLUSIONS

This is the first case of *A. spica-venti* resistance to three MOA in the Czech Republic, confirmed by a combination of whole-plant dose-response assay, genetic analyses and fluorescence measurement. Changes in susceptibility of the target enzyme conferred by Trp-574-Leu and Pro-197-Thr mutations was determined to be the main mechanism of resistance to pyroxsulam. Mixed effect of target-site and non-target-site mechanisms is expected to be responsible for the resistance to pinoxaden. Because of low frequency of Ile-1781-Leu mutation in the population, the CYP450 detoxification of pinoxaden is probably the predominant cause of resistance. For chlorotoluron, non-target-site mechanisms seem to be the key reason of decreased susceptibility of R plants. Although, the inhibition of detoxification processes by the malathion pre-treatment was limited, and other detoxification mechanisms may be expected.

Measurement of maximum quantum efficiency of photosystem II (F_v/F_m) can be considered as a suitable method for fast identification of both, target site and non-target site herbicide resistance in *A. spica-venti*. Fast measurement of F_v/F_m parameter can be employed as a first-line method for preliminary identification of resistant plants before deeper analyses are conducted.

The population with herbicide resistance showed resistance to three groups of herbicides. While the target-site modes of action are usually specific for individual groups, the non-target-site mechanisms may be common for two or more herbicide groups. As shown in other studies, multiple resistance is typical for elevated levels of herbicide-detoxifying enzymes (Cummins et al., 2013). Apart from increased activity of P450 oxygenases, other detoxifying mechanisms are likely to be involved in multiple herbicide resistance of tested resistant population. Future research will focus on the role of GSTs in the expression of resistance to different herbicides in A. *spica-venti*.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The project was supported by the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic, Project No. QK1820081and by funds of the Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture (BMEL) based on a decision of

428

WEED RESEARCH

the Parliament of the Federal Republic of Germany via the Federal Office for Agriculture and Food (BLE) under the innovation support programme and by funds of the German government's Special Purpose Fund held at Landwirtschaftliche Rentenbank. We thank Theresa Rheinhardt Piskáčková for English proof reading.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Authors declare no conflict of interest.

PEER REVIEW

The peer review history for this article is available at https://publo ns.com/publon/10.1111/wre.12500.

ORCID

Pavlina Košnarová https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9907-5007 Pavel Hamouz https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1318-8869 Kateřina Hamouzová https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6902-6087 Alexander Linn https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9780-5635 Madhab K. Sen https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2191-4958 Jakub Mikulka https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6071-3016 Jaromír Šuk https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5664-8573 Josef Soukup https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2890-2359

REFERENCES

- Adamczewski, K., Kierzek, R. & Matysiak, K. (2016) Multiple resistance to acetolactate synthase (ALS)-and acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase (ACCase)-inhibiting herbicides in black-grass (Alopecurus myosuroides Huds.) populations from Poland. Journal of Plant Protection Research, 56(4), 402–410.
- Auškalniené, O., Kadžiené, G., Stefanovičiené, R. & Jomantaité, B. (2020) Development of herbicides resistance in Apera spica-venti in Lithuania. Zemdirbyste-Agriculture, 107(2), 99–104..
- Babineau, M., Mathiassen, S.K., Kristensen, M., Holst, N., Beffa, R. & Kudsk, P. (2017) Spatial distribution of acetolactate synthase resistance mechanisms in neighboring populations of silky windgrass (Apera spica-venti). Weed science, 65, 479–490.
- Basak, S., McElroy, J.S., Brown, A.M., Gonçalves, C.G., Patel, J.D. & McCullough, P.E. (2020) Plastidic ACCase Ile-1781-Leu is present in pinoxaden-resistant southern crabgrass (*Digitaria ciliaris*). Weed Science, 68, 41-50.
- Baty, F., Ritz, C., Charles, S., Brutsche, M., Flandrois, J.P. & Delignette-Muller, M.L. (2015) A toolbox for nonlinear regression in R: the package nlstools. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 66(5), 1–21.
- Beckie, H.J., Warwick, S.I. & Sauder, C.A. (2012) Basis for herbicide resistance in Canadian populations of wild oat (Avena fatua). Weed Science, 60, 10–18.
- Cummins, I., Wortley, D.J., Sabbadin, F., He, Z., Coxon, C.R., Straker, H.E. et al. (2013) Key role for a glutathione transferase in multipleherbicide resistance in grass weeds. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110, 5812–5817. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1221179110
- Evans, J.A., Tranel, P.J., Hager, A.G., Schutte, B., Wu, C., Chatham, L.A. et al. (2016) Managing the evolution of herbicide resistance. *Pest Management Science*, 72(1), 74–80.
- Fang, J.P., Liu, T.T., Zhang, Y.H., Li, J. & Dong, L.Y. (2019) Target sitebased penoxsulam resistance in barnyardgrass (*Echinochloa crus-galli*) from China. Weed Science, 67, 281–287.
- Feng, Y., Gao, Y., Zhang, Y., Dong, L. & Li, J. (2016) Mechanisms of Resistance to Pyroxsulam and ACCase Inhibitors in Japanese Foxtail

(Alopecurus japonicus). Weed Science, 64(4), 695-704. https://doi. org/10.1614/WS-D-16-00042.1

- Guo, W., Yuan, G., Liu, W., Bi, Y., Du, L., Zhang, C. et al. (2015) Multiple resistance to ACCase and AHAS-inhibiting herbicides in shortawn foxtail (Alopecurus aequalis Sobol.) from China. Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology, 124, 66–72.
- Hamouzová, K., Košnarová, P., Salava, J., Soukup, J. & Hamouz, P. (2014) Mechanisms of resistance to acetolactate synthase-inhibiting herbicides in populations of *Apera spica-venti* from the Czech Republic. *Pest Management Science*, 70, 541–548. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ps.3563
- Hamouzová, K., Soukup, J., Jursík, M., Hamouz, P., Venclová, V. & Tůmová, P. (2011) Cross-resistance to three frequently used sulfonylurea herbicides in populations of *Apera spica-venti* from the Czech Republic. *Weed Research*, 51, 113–122. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-3180.2010.00828.x
- Heap, I. (2021) The international survey of herbicide resistant weeds. Weed Science Society of America. Available at: http://weedscience.org/ [Accessed 10 January 2021].
- Kaloumenos, N.S., Chatzilazaridou, S.L., Mylona, P.V., Polidoros, A.N. & Eleftherohorinos, I.G. (2013) Target-site mutation associated with cross-resistance to ALS-inhibiting herbicides in late watergrass (*Echinochloa oryzicola Vasing.*). *Pest Management Science*, 69, 865-873.
- Linn, A.I., Mink, R., Peteinatos, G.G. & Gerhards, R. (2019) In-field classification of herbicide-resistant *Papaver rhoeas* and *Stellaria media* using an imaging sensor of the maximum quantum efficiency of photosystem II. Weed Research, 59, 357–366.
- Löbmann, A., Schulte, M., Runge, F., Christen, O. & Petersen, J. (2021) Occurrence, resistance factors and cross-resistance patterns to herbicides inhibiting acetolactate synthase (ALS) of *Echinochloa crus*galli (L.) Pal. Beauv. in Central Europe. Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection, 128(3), 843–852. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41348-021-00434-1
- Marshall, R., Hanley, S.J., Hull, R.I. & Moss, S.R. (2013) The presence of two different target-site resistance mechanisms in individual plants of Alopecurus myosuroides Huds., identified using a quick molcular test for the characterisation of six ALS and seven ACCase SNPs. Pest Management Science, 69, 727–737. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.3429
- Massa, D., Krenz, B. & Gerhards, R. (2011) Target-site resistance to ALSinhibiting herbicides in *Apera spica-venti* populations is conferred by documented and previously unknown mutations. *Weed Research*, 51, 294–303.
- Matzrafi, M., Gadri, Y., Frenkel, E., Rubin, B. & Peleg, Z. (2014) Evolution of herbicide resistance mechanisms in grass weeds. *Plant Science*, 229, 43–52.
- Menéndez, J., Bastida, F. & de Prado, R. (2006) Resistance to Chlortoluron in a Downy Brome (*Bromus tectorum*) Biotype. Weed Science, 54, 237–245.
- Menéndez, J., Jorrin, J., Romera, E. & De Prado, R. (1994) Resistance to chlorotoluron of a slender foxtail (*Alopecurus myosuroides*) biotype. *Weed Science*, 99, 340–344.
- Niemann, P. (2000) Resistance of silky bentgrass (Apera spica-venti) against Isoproturon. Mitteilungen Biologischer Bundesanstalt für Landwirtschaft und Forstwirtschaft, 376, 147–148.
- Nováková, K., Soukup, J., Wagner, J., Hamouz, P. & Náměstek, J. (2006) Chlorsulfuron resistance in silky bent-grass (Apera spica-venti Beauv.) in the Czech Republic. Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection, Special Issue, XX, 139–146.
- Petersen, J. (2018) Herbicide mixtures for control of herbicide resistant Apera spica-venti populations. Julius-Kühn-Archiv, 458, 106–112.
- Preston, C., Tardif, F.J., Christopher, J.T. & Powles, S.B. (1996) Multiple resistance to dissimilar herbicide chemistries in a biotype of *Lolium rigidum* due to enhanced activity of several herbicide degrading enzymes. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, 54, 123–134.

- Scarabel, L., Panozzo, S., Varotto, S. & Sattin, M. (2011) Allelic variation of the ACCase gene and response to ACCase-inhibiting herbicides in pinoxaden-resistant *Lolium* spp. *Pest Management Science*, 67, 932–941.
- Soukup, J., Nováková, K., Hamouz, P. & Náměstek, J. (2006) Ecology of silky bent grass (Apera spica-venti (L.) Beauv.), importance and control in the Czech Republic. Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection, Special Issue, XX, 73–80.
- Stankiewicz-Kosyl, M., Wrochna, M., Salas, M. & Gawronski, A.W. (2017) A strategy of chemical control of *Apera spica-venti* L. resistant to sulfonylureas traced on the molecular level. *Journal of Plant Protection Research*, 57(2), 113–119.
- Tal, A. & Rubin, B. (2004) Molecular characterization and inheritance of resistance to ACCase-inhibiting herbicides in *Lolium rigidum*. Pest Management Science: Formerly Pesticide Science, 60(10), 1013–1018.
- Wang, P., Peteinatos, G., Li, H., Brändle, F., Pfündel, E., Hans, G. et al. (2018) Rapid monitoring of herbicide-resistant *Alopecurus myosuroides* Huds using chlorophyll fluorescence imaging technology. *Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection*, 125(2), 187–195.

- Wolber, D.M. (2014) Development of resistance of Apera spica-venti (L.) P. Beauv. (loose silky-bent) in Lower Saxony in 2013-also increasingly against Pinoxaden. Julius-Kühn-Archiv, 443, 280–286.
- Xia, W., Pan, L., Li, J., Wang, Q., Feng, Y. & Dong, L. (2015) Molecular basis of ALS and/or ACCase-inhibitor resistance in shortawn foxtail (Alopecurus aequalis Sobol.). Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology, 122, 76–80.
- Zhang, C.J., Lim, S.H., Kim, J.W., Nah, G., Fischer, A. & Kim, D.S. (2016) Leaf chlorophyll fluorescence discriminates herbicide resistance in Echinochloa species. Weed Research, 56, 424–433.

How to cite this article: Košnarová, P., Hamouz, P., Hamouzová, K., Linn, A., Sen, M.K., Mikulka, J., et al. (2021) Apera spica-venti in the Czech Republic develops resistance to three herbicide modes of action. *Weed Research*, 61, 420–429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/wre.12500</u>

5. SUMMARY DISCUSSION

The modern input-intensive agriculture system aims to reduce economic losses in agricultural production. Weeds, if left uncontrolled, might cause huge agricultural economic loss (up to 50-60% or even 100%). Herbicides (represent almost 60% (by volume) of the pesticides used worldwide) have been used to manage weeds in agronomic crops. However, despite of their weed-killing efficiencies and cost-effectiveness, intensive and unplanned use of herbicides led to the evolution of herbicide-resistant weeds. Resistance has been reported against almost all known herbicide modes of action. Hence, herbicides with a novel mode of action are desperately needed to manage the evolution of resistance of weeds to existing herbicides.

In general, the mechanisms of herbicide resistance can be divided into TSR and NTSR mechanisms. NTSR mechanisms are more complex, when compared with the TSR. However, irrespective of the mechanisms, any mechanism that is present within the weed population can allow the weed to survive (Délye et al., 2013). Why the knowledge of mechanism of herbicide resistance is so important? Good management of herbicide resistance generally depend on understanding the biology of the individual weed species and the herbicides that are still effective for control (Beckie, 2006; Délye et al., 2013). Elucidation of the exact mechanisms of herbicide resistance will not only provide information about possible cross-resistance to other herbicides but also will provide alternative solutions about herbicide management. How omics-based technologies can be used to explicate the exact mechanism of herbicide resistance? High throughput molecular biology-based techniques and their integrations have drastically changed the way biologists carry out their research. Even though plant biology and genomics have already included these technologies, while some challenges remain for use in applied biology. Comparatively new subdiscipline, weed molecular biology is still learning how to integrate omics technologies into the discipline. Omics technologies such as transcriptomics, epitranscriptomics, proteomics, metabolomics and/or their integrations should be used and applied more often to address basic questions in weed biology (such as elucidating the mechanisms of resistance). Additionally, better utilization of these technologies may also help to answer some practical questions of improving weed management (Patterson et al., 2019; Maroli et al., 2018; Ravet et al., 2018).

This doctoral thesis aims to use omics-technologies to unravel the molecular mechanisms underlying the herbicide resistance development (in weeds occurring in the Czech Republic) and propose its prospects for planning superior weed management strategies. In brief, this doctoral thesis contains 4 different scientific works (already published). The work 1 aims to solve the problem of primer designing for an important herbicide target gene (acetolactate synthase) (Sen et al., 2021b). Codon usage is an important determinant factor of gene expression levels in eukaryotic and prokaryotic genomes, due to its effects on transcription (Liu et al., 2021; Zhou et al., 2016). Due to their favorable effects on the translation efficiency, particular codons are preferred by the organisms over the others. Hence, this lead to codon-usage bias. Codon usage biases are found in all eukaryotic and prokaryotic genomes. Optimal codons contribute to efficient and accurate translation. Hence, designing of genes of interest using optimal codons (rather than overall ample codons) might be a key strategy to boost protein expression for heterologous gene expression (Zhou et al., 2016; Quax et al., 2015). Heterologous protein expression studies find huge application while investigating cellular functions of proteins, genetic circuit engineering and in overexpressing proteins for various research. Even though there are several field-based studies published on weeds and their herbicide-resistant properties but studies related to their molecular properties are still at their initial stages. Development of new herbicidal compounds might require developing synthetic herbicidal-target heterologous genes. In this study, we had successfully identified the optimal codons for ALS gene in weeds, which will help the weed molecular biologists to design degenerate primers (independent of the availability of the genome sequences).

Work 2 aimed to elucidate the molecular mechanisms of resistance in a pyroxsulam-resistant *Bromus sterilis* biotype, collected from the winter wheat field within the Czech Republic (Sen *et al.*, 2021a). Frequent use of pyroxsulam has triggered the evolution of herbicide-resistance in many weeds, including *B. sterilis*. Dose–response and cross-resistance experiments implied that this biotype has developed resistance to pyroxsulam and cross-resistant to propoxycarbazone, iodosulfuron plus mesosulfuron and sulfosulfuron. Prior treatment with malathion resulted in the decrease of the resistance index compared to the plants treated with pyroxsulam alone. This confirmed the presence of metabolism-based resistance mechanism. Neither any differences in the ploidy level nor any mutations (for *ALS* gene) were detected between the resistant and susceptible biotypes. Almost two-fold overexpression of the *ALS* gene was detected in the resistant biotypes.

But our relative *ALS* gene copy number results confirmed that gene amplification is not responsible for the overexpression. In conclusion, these findings revealed that the pyroxsulam-resistance is expected to be associated with overexpression of the *ALS* gene and enhanced metabolism.

Work 3 was conducted based on the fact that, to date, there are no reports on appropriate reference gene in any brome species (Sen et al., 2021c). To investigate the molecular mechanisms of herbicide-resistance, quantitative PCR (RT-qPCR) has been extensively used to assess the expression of candidate genes. Additionally, with the increasing number of transcriptome-based studies, the application of qRT-PCR has grown to validate the transcriptome data and to the study gene expression. Despite of being accurate and able to detect precise fold changes in geneexpression, the accuracy of this technique highly depends on the expression of reference gene/s. Any mistake in choosing a suitable reference gene might lead to deceptive results. Since there are no universal reference genes, it is necessary to methodically select the appropriate reference gene/s for each individual species. In this article, we had used five most commonly used software (ΔCt , BestKeeper, NormFinder, geNorm and RefFinder) for reference gene selection in B. sterilis. The candidate genes were 18S rRNA, 25S rRNA, Actin, eukaryotic elongation factor (eEF), ACCase, β -tubulin, Ubiquitin and GAPDH. We had successfully identified and recommended suitable reference genes for B. sterilis gene expression studies under different experimental conditions (developmental stages, plant organs, drought stress, herbicide stress and all combined). Based on the ranking and validation studies, we recommend using a combination of 18S rRNA and ACCase to normalise the qRT-PCR data in B. sterilis. The results from this study will expedite upcoming molecular works in *B. sterilis* and other related grass species.

In the work 4, we report the first case of *Apera spica-venti*, which had developed resistance to three herbicide modes of action (Košnarová *et al.*, 2021). Following the confirmation of the resistance, the investigation of the molecular mechanisms of herbicide resistance were carried separately for pyroxsulam (ALS-inhibiting herbicide), pinoxaden (ACCase-inhibiting herbicide) and chlorotoluron (PS II-inhibiting herbicide). Our results indicate that target-site mutations is the main mechanism for resistance against pyroxsulam and metabolic detoxification does play a role for pinoxaden resistance. However, we predict that neither *psbA* gene mutations nor enhanced metabolism is responsible for the resistance to chlorotoluron. Additionally, this study also showed that maximum quantum efficiency of photosystem II (Fv/Fm) can be considered as an important parameter for fast identification of both, TSR and NTSR in this weed species and must be tested

for its efficacy in other related species. This research provided important perceptions into the resistance mechanisms in *A. spica-venti*. Understanding the resistance mechanisms will be important for developing the existing control strategies for this weed in the Czech Republic as well as across the Europe.

6. CONCLUSIONS

Weeds are a major threat to food security. Herbicides were the most effective tool for the weed control ever developed. However, with the discovery of the first herbicide-resistant in 1957, the twist in the game began. This golden period of chemical weed control was quickly cut short and currently, the herbicide resistance has been reported in 267 weed species worldwide (www.weedscience.org). Moreover, no new herbicide modes of action had appeared in recent years. Discovery and development of new compounds with herbicidal properties along with an assessment of their efficiencies might necessitate designing of synthetic herbicidal target genes. In theory, designing of synthetic genes with optimal codons instead of random codons might produce impressive results. So, in our first study, we had focused on the identification of the optimal codons for an important herbicidal target gene (acetolactate synthase). Based on *in-silico* analysis, we recommended using the codons form our work for further studies, to avoid any delays while optimizing heterologous gene expression experiments in weedy species.

Rigorous application of ALS-inhibiting herbicides has sparked the evolution of herbicideresistance in many weeds, including Bromus sterilis. In the Czech Republic, these troublesome weeds were well-controlled by ALS-inhibiting herbicides (mainly pyroxsulam and propoxycarbazone). But recently the farmers in the Czech Republic have reported that the recommended doses of pyroxsulam have failed to control this weed. So, following the collection of the seeds, based on the greenhouse dose-response experiments, we point out that this biotype is resistant to pyroxsulam and cross-resistant to propoxycarbazone, iodosulfuron plus mesosulfuron and sulfosulfuron. To understand the mechanism of resistance, we explored the possibilities such as ploidy level variation, ALS-gene mutations, relative copy number and expression. Finally, we discovered that enhanced metabolism and target gene overexpression are the main mechanism. In addition to these, we realised the fact that there were no suitable reference genes for qRT-PCR experiments in B. sterilis. Hence, in our third study, we had systematically identified the best reference genes in this species. We recommend using a combination of 18S rRNA and ACCase. The obtained results of our studies will provide a basis for further research using comparative proteomic or epigenetic approaches to investigate how target gene overexpression is orchestrated at the molecular level.

Apera spica-venti is one the most economically important weed species in the Czech Republic. In our last study, we had investigated the molecular mechanisms of herbicide resistance to three modes of action (ALS-inhibiting, ACCase-inhibiting and PSII-inhibiting). Additionally, we had also tried to verify if measurement of chlorophyll fluorescence can be a reliable method for detection of herbicide resistance in this weed. Finally, we discovered that while genetic mutation is responsible for pyroxsulam-resistance, NTSR is involved in pinoxaden-resistance. However, the exact mechanism for chlorotoluron is still needed to be addressed. Moreover, we also recommend using measurement of chlorophyll fluorescence for detection of herbicide resistance.

In conclusion, in this Ph.D. thesis, we had successfully addressed all the hypotheses and fulfilled the objectives. The current findings highlight the need to monitor additional brome and common wind grass populations for herbicide resistance in Europe. Lack of new products with herbicidal properties and the imposed dose rate reduction of many active ingredients are likely to increase resistance cases in the near future. Moreover, herbicide resistance is as an evolutionary process driven by overuse of single site of action herbicides without additional weed control practices. Therefore, we recommend using alternative herbicides in integrated weed management to slow down the potential evolution of herbicide resistance in these species.

7. LIST OF USED LITERATURES

Allen, P. S., & Meyer, S. E. (2002). Ecology and ecological genetics of seed dormancy in downy brome. *Weed Science*, *50*(2), 241-247.

Baerson, S. R., Rodriguez, D. J., Biest, N. A., Tran, M., You, J., Kreuger, R. W., ... & Gruys, K.
J. (2002). Investigating the mechanism of glyphosate resistance in rigid ryegrass (*Lolium ridigum*). Weed Science, 50(6), 721-730.

Baker, H. G. (1965). Characteristics and modes of origin of weeds. *Characteristics and modes of origin of weeds.*, 147-172.

Beckie, H. J. (2006). Herbicide-resistant weeds: management tactics and practices. *Weed technology*, 20(3), 793-814.

Beffa, R., Figge, A., Lorentz, L., Hess, M., Laber, B., Ruiz-Santaella, J. P., & Strek, H. (2012). Weed resistance diagnostic technologies to detect herbicide resistance in cereal-growing areas. A review. *Julius-Kühn-Archiv*, *1*(434), 75-80.

Chipman, D., Barak, Z. E., & Schloss, J. V. (1998). Biosynthesis of 2-aceto-2-hydroxy acids: acetolactate synthases and acetohydroxyacid synthases. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology*, *1385*(2), 401-419.

Christopher, J. T., Powles, S. B., Liljegren, D. R., & Holtum, J. A. (1991). Cross-resistance to herbicides in annual ryegrass (*Lolium rigidum*) II. chlorsulfuron resistance involves a wheat-like detoxification system. *Plant physiology*, *95*(4), 1036-1043.

Davies, L. R., Onkokesung, N., Brazier-Hicks, M., Edwards, R., & Moss, S. (2020). Detection and characterization of resistance to acetolactate synthase inhibiting herbicides in *Anisantha* and *Bromus* species in the United Kingdom. *Pest management science*, *76*(7), 2473-2482.

Délye, C., Jasieniuk, M., & Le Corre, V. (2013). Deciphering the evolution of herbicide resistance in weeds. *Trends in Genetics*, *29*(11), 649-658.

Draber, W., Tietjen, K., Kluth, J. F., & Trebst, A. (1991). Herbicides in photosynthesis research. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English*, *30*(12), 1621-1633.

Fedtke, C. (2012). *Biochemistry and physiology of herbicide action*. Springer Science & Business Media.

Fuerst, E. P., & Norman, M. A. (1991). Interactions of herbicides with photosynthetic electron transport. *Weed Science*, *39*(3), 458-464.

Gaines, T. A., Duke, S. O., Morran, S., Rigon, C. A., Tranel, P. J., Küpper, A., & Dayan, F. E. (2020). Mechanisms of evolved herbicide resistance. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 295(30), 10307-10330.

Ghanizadeh, H., & Harrington, K. C. (2017). Non-target site mechanisms of resistance to herbicides. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, *36*(1), 24-34.

Gianessi, L. P. (2013). The increasing importance of herbicides in worldwide crop production. *Pest management science*, 69(10), 1099-1105.

Hall, L. M., Moss, S. R., & Powles, S. B. (1995). Mechanism of resistance to chlorotoluron in two biotypes of the grass weed *Alopecurus myosuroides*. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, *53*(3), 180-192.

Hamouzová, K., Soukup, J., Jursik, M., Hamouz, P., Venclová, V., & TůMová, P. (2011). Crossresistance to three frequently used sulfonylurea herbicides in populations of *Apera spica-venti* from the Czech Republic. *Weed Research*, *51*(2), 113-122.

Harlan, J. R. (1982). Relationships between weeds and crops. In *Biology and ecology of weeds* (pp. 91-96). Springer, Dordrecht.

Heap, I. (2014). Global perspective of herbicide-resistant weeds. *Pest management science*, 70(9), 1306-1315.

Jursík, M., Kolářová, M., Soukup, J., & Žďárková, V. (2016). Effects of adjuvants and carriers on propoxycarbazone and pyroxsulam efficacy on *Bromus sterilis* in winter wheat. *Plant, Soil and Environment*, 62(10), 447-452.

Košnarová, P., Hamouz, P., Hamouzová, K., Linn, A., Sen, M. K., Mikulka, J., ... & Soukup, J. (2021). *Apera spica-venti* in the Czech Republic develops resistance to three herbicide modes of action. *Weed Research*, *61*(5), 420-429.

Kaundun, S. S. (2014). Resistance to acetyl-CoA carboxylase-inhibiting herbicides. *Pest Management Science*, *70*(9), 1405-1417.

Kraehmer, H., Laber, B., Rosinger, C., & Schulz, A. (2014). Herbicides as weed control agents: state of the art: I. Weed control research and safener technology: the path to modern agriculture. *Plant physiology*, *166*(3), 1119-1131.

Krysiak, M., Gawroński, S., Adamczewski, K., & Kierzek, R. (2011). *ALS* gene mutations in *Apera spica-venti* confer broad-range resistance to herbicides. *Journal of Plant Protection Research*, *51*(3).

Kukorelli, G., Reisinger, P., & Pinke, G. (2013). ACCase inhibitor herbicides-selectivity, weed resistance and fitness cost: a review. *International journal of pest management*, *59*(3), 165-173.

Liu, Y., Yang, Q., & Zhao, F. (2021). Synonymous but not silent: the codon usage code for gene expression and protein folding. *Annual review of biochemistry*, *90*, 375.

Maroli, A. S., Gaines, T. A., Foley, M. E., Duke, S. O., Doğramacı, M., Anderson, J. V., ... & Tharayil, N. (2018). Omics in weed science: a perspective from genomics, transcriptomics, and metabolomics approaches. *Weed Science*, *66*(6), 681-695.

Moray, R., Büchse, A., & Hurle, K. (2003). *Bromus* species in winter wheat-population dynamics and competitiveness. *Communications in agricultural and applied biological sciences*, *68*(4 Pt A), 341-352.

Moss, S. R., & Naylor, R. E. L. (2002). Herbicide-resistant weeds. Weed management handbook, 9.

Navas, M. L. (1991). Using plant population biology in weed research: a strategy to improve weed management. *Weed Research*, *31*(4), 171-179.

Patzoldt, W. L., Hager, A. G., McCormick, J. S., & Tranel, P. J. (2006). A codon deletion confers resistance to herbicides inhibiting protoporphyrinogen oxidase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *103*(33), 12329-12334.

Powles, S. B., & Yu, Q. (2010). Evolution in action: plants resistant to herbicides. *Annual review* of plant biology, 61, 317-347.

Quax, T. E., Claassens, N. J., Söll, D., & van der Oost, J. (2015). Codon bias as a means to finetune gene expression. *Molecular cell*, *59*(2), 149-161.

Rey-Caballero, J., Menéndez, J., Osuna, M. D., Salas, M., & Torra, J. (2017). Target-site and nontarget-site resistance mechanisms to ALS inhibiting herbicides in *Papaver rhoeas*. *Pesticide biochemistry and physiology*, *138*, 57-65.

Ravet, K., Patterson, E. L., Krähmer, H., Hamouzová, K., Fan, L., Jasieniuk, M., ... & Gaines, T. A. (2018). The power and potential of genomics in weed biology and management. *Pest management science*, 74(10), 2216-2225.

Reade, J. P., & Cobb, A. H. (2002). Herbicides: modes of action and metabolism. *Weed management handbook*, *9*, 134-170.

Sasaki, Y., & Nagano, Y. (2004). Plant acetyl-CoA carboxylase: structure, biosynthesis, regulation, and gene manipulation for plant breeding. *Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry*, 68(6), 1175-1184.

Sen, M. K., Hamouzová, K., Mikulka, J., Bharati, R., Košnarová, P., Hamouz, P., ... & Soukup, J. (2021a). Enhanced metabolism and target gene overexpression confer resistance against acetolactate synthase-inhibiting herbicides in *Bromus sterilis*. *Pest Management Science*, *77*(4), 2122-2128.

Sen, M. K., Hamouzová, K., Mondal, S. K., & Soukup, J. (2021b). Identification of the optimal codons for acetolactate synthase from weeds: an *in-silico* study. *Plant, Soil and Environment*, 67(6), 331-336.

Sen, M. K., Hamouzová, K., Košnarová, P., Roy, A., & Soukup, J. (2021c). Identification of the most suitable reference gene for gene expression studies with development and abiotic stress response in *Bromus sterilis*. *Scientific reports*, *11*(1), 1-10.

Sherwani, S. I., Arif, I. A., & Khan, H. A. (2015). Modes of action of different classes of herbicides. *Herbicides, physiology of action, and safety*, 165-186.

Sharma, A., Kumar, V., Shahzad, B., Tanveer, M., Sidhu, G. P. S., Handa, N., ... & Thukral, A. K. (2019). Worldwide pesticide usage and its impacts on ecosystem. *SN Applied Sciences*, *1*(11), 1-16.

Soukup, J., Novakova, K., Hamouz, P., & Namestek, J. (2006). Ecology of silky bent grass (Apera spica-venti (L.) Beauv.), its importance and control in the Czech Republic. *ZEITSCHRIFT FUR PFLANZENKRANKHEITEN UND PFLANZENSCHUTZ-SONDERHEFT-*, 20, 73.

Tong, L. (2005). Acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase: crucial metabolic enzyme and attractive target for drug discovery. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS*, *62*(16), 1784-1803.

Veronika, V., Kateřina, H., Michaela, K., & Josef, S. (2017). Germination responses to water potential in *Bromus sterilis L.* under different temperatures and light regimes. *Plant, Soil and Environment*, 63(8), 368-374.

Yuan, J. S., Tranel, P. J., & Stewart Jr, C. N. (2007). Non-target-site herbicide resistance: a family business. *Trends in plant science*, *12*(1), 6-13.

Yu, Q., Nelson, J. K., Zheng, M. Q., Jackson, M., & Powles, S. B. (2007). Molecular characterisation of resistance to ALS-inhibiting herbicides in *Hordeum leporinum* biotypes. *Pest Management Science: formerly Pesticide Science*, 63(9), 918-927.

Zimdahl, R. L. (2018). Fundamentals of weed science. Academic press.

Zhou, Z., Dang, Y., Zhou, M., Li, L., Yu, C. H., Fu, J., ... & Liu, Y. (2016). Codon usage is an important determinant of gene expression levels largely through its effects on transcription. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(41), E6117-E6125.